

## **VOLUNTARY EUTHANASIA AND** 'ASSISTED DYING' IN TASMANIA: A RESPONSE TO GIDDINGS & McKIM





**OCTOBER 2013** 



## **CONTENTS**

| Executive Summary 4  |
|--|
| Introduction6  |
| A Response to Giddings & McKim (2013)7   |
| Academic Issues and Critiques  |
| Medical and Bioethical Issues and Critiques  |
| Criminological, Legal and Sociological Issues  |
| - The Potential for Elder Abuse  |
| - Many Disability Advocates Oppose Euthanasia and Assisted Suicide   |
| - Feminist Perspectives: The Gendered Risks of Voluntary Euthanasia and Assisted Suicide                                 |
| International Evidence and History Re-Visited  |
| 'Slippery Slope' Arguments and Risks of 'Bracket Creep': Evidence from Other Countries                                   |
| Belgium: Evidence that 'Safeguards' are Fallible and May be Ignored  |
| The Netherlands: Evidence of Non-Voluntary Euthanasia for Vulnerable Patients and the 'Dark Figure' of Hidden Euthanasia |
| Oregon,: Insufficient Protection for People with a Mental Illness and Financially Disadvantaged People                   |
| Ireland: Euthanasia Law Reform is Against the Public Interest  |
| Conclusion   |
| References   |



#### **About the Authors**

Hannah Graham is an Associate Lecturer in the Sociology and Criminology Program in the School of Social Sciences, Faculty of Arts, and a research assistant in the Faculty of Law at the University of Tasmania. She holds a Bachelor of Arts and Masters of Criminology & Corrections, and is currently completing her PhD at UTAS.

**Jeremy Prichard** is a Senior Lecturer in the Faculty of Law, University of Tasmania. He holds a PhD in Law. Dr Prichard teaches criminal law and conducts research in criminological fields.

Hannah was employed as an UTAS research assistant by Jeremy to undertake research for and co-author this research paper. Consistent with the *National Statement* on *Ethical Research*, Chapter Five, the order of the authors reflects their contribution to the paper.

#### **Copyright and Disclaimer**

The authors are solely responsible for this paper and the views expressed are entirely our own. The contents of this paper do not necessarily reflect the views or policy of the authors' employers. Care has been taken to reference other sources (e.g. academic journal articles, books, reports), however, the authors accept no responsibility for the content, accuracy or completeness of the sources. This paper is not affiliated with or funded by any political party. The layout, format and Tasmanian photography have been designed and taken by Hannah Graham, the first author.

This paper is intended for general use and information. People may distribute copies of the paper in unaltered, complete form only, for personal and educative use, or professional but non-commercial use subject to proper attribution to the authors. All other rights are reserved, and authorisation must be sought from the authors in writing for other uses.

© 2013, Graham & Prichard.

## **EXECUTIVE SUMMARY**

This paper provides a consolidated response to the Honourable Lara Giddings (MP) and the Honourable Nick McKim (MP), offering analysis and critique of their 'Voluntary Assisted Dying – A Proposal for Tasmania' (2013) paper. Their paper puts forward a radical proposal that, if legislated, would make Tasmania one of a very small number of jurisdictions in the world to legalise voluntary euthanasia and assisted suicide.

From close examination of their paper and proposed model, it is argued that while a number of their claims are evidence based, others are unsubstantiated. Their claims often represent one perspective or type of response to complex issues and questions – the answers to which may never be agreed upon by relevant stakeholders.

This paper draws on international literature as well as insights from well-credentialed Tasmanian practitioners to analyse Giddings and McKim's (2013) representation of what has (and has not) happened elsewhere and to critique their bid for euthanasia law reform in Tasmania.

We conclude that the paper produced by Ms Giddings and Mr McKim does not constitute a compelling evidence-based case for changing the law. The risks of proceeding with the model that they propose are not justified.

The euthanasia debate is as complex as it is controversial, and yet it is not new. The transition between life and death, and the presence or absence of intervention and assistance (who, how, why, in what circumstances) in that process, is of intrinsic interest and importance to law makers. The euthanasia debate is, in essence, a debate not only about the purported 'right to die' but, importantly, whether doctors should be in certain circumstances authorised to kill their patients or to assist their suicide (see Jackson & Keown, 2012; Putnam, 2009). Ms Giddings and Mr McKim's proposal refers to these scenarios as collectively 'voluntary assisted dying'. In this paper the terms 'voluntary euthanasia' and 'assisted suicide' are used, which is consistent with the terminology of the bulk of the literature in this field.

Ms Giddings and Mr McKim are very clear in approaching this as individual private members. Nonetheless the views of significant Tasmanian political figures on such a complex topic warrant close scrutiny and deep reflection. Indeed, Giddings and McKim (2013) call for community engagement and it is in this spirit of respectful democratic debate that the following response is made. To be clear, this paper involves the analytical critique of ideas, issues and proposed law reforms, not people or their respective political parties. By framing the issues here in an academic way, it is hoped that ongoing public conversations can be further stimulated, inclusive of different stakeholders and diverse views.

The critique that follows highlights two substantial issues with Giddings and McKim's (2013) paper and proposed model. A number of the claims that they make inappropriately imply concrete facts (i.e. sentiments along the lines of "the evidence has spoken" and "our research shows...") without acknowledging the depth of international contention on certain topics.

Secondly, significant amounts of empirical evidence and alternative academic and professional perspectives have been understated or omitted in their paper. That evidence, along with the implications, paradoxes and questions that emerge for the Tasmanian context, is considered in this response. We look at what is being proposed and what is missing. In particular, we analyse what is missing from Giddings and McKim's (2013)

portrayal of the legalisation of voluntary euthanasia and assisted dying in jurisdictions, including the Netherlands, Belgium and Oregon.

### Summary of the Key Issues

In response to the Giddings and McKim (2013) paper and model, some of the key issues and concerns raised here include:

- Multiple formal bodies have considered and rejected voluntary euthanasia and assisted suicide: Worldwide there have been multiple commissions, committees, panels, and parliamentary inquiries that have carefully considered and decided against the legalisation of voluntary euthanasia and assisted suicide (Jackson & Keown, 2012). For example, in the USA alone, between January 1994 March 2011, there were 122 legislative attempts to legalise forms of euthanasia in 25 states. While Oregon and Washington have legalised it, the other attempts have been defeated or withdrawn (Patient Rights Council, 2011). It is still illegal in Australia and most of the world.
- Where legalised, there is evidence of 'safeguards' being ignored: In the Flanders region of Belgium approximately half of euthanasia cases are not formally monitored as doctors do not report them to authorities. The rate of underreporting in the Netherlands appears to be between 20%-23%. Also, in Oregon the 'safeguard' of referral to a psychiatrist for mental health assessment to consider issues of competency and informed consent dropped from 31% of patients in 1998 to 2% of patients in 2012. Yet, some research has indicated moderately high rates of depression among Oregonian Death With Dignity Act patients (Ganzini et al., 2008).
- Where legalised, there is evidence of vulnerable people being euthanased without their explicit request and informed consent: This occurs in the Netherlands, Belgium, and Oregon, and the list of vulnerable patients being euthanased (with or without their consent) include infants and children, disabled people, people who are economically disadvantaged, and people with a mental illnesses. In Oregon, there are documented cases of the State suggesting to

- financially disadvantaged people that physician assisted suicide was a 'treatment' option after their request for other options (e.g. cancer treatment) was denied (Page, 2009).
- There are risks of voluntary euthanasia and assisted suicide negatively impacting on the role of the doctor-patient relationship:

  Giddings and McKim (2013) claim that there will be no negative impact on the doctor-patient relationships. Many academic journal articles take the opposite view. Doctors and medical associations around the world have expressed their concerns and opposition to voluntary euthanasia and assisted suicide for multiple reasons; the Australian Medical Association (Tas.) (2009, 2013) is one of the most prominent critics of Giddings and McKim's (2013) paper and proposed model.
- Doctors, health care workers and family members may suffer unforeseen stress after being involved in voluntary euthanasia and assisted suicide: There is research that has found that some people who have been involved with voluntary euthanasia and assisted suicide may have mixed feelings or be emotionally and psychologically burdened by the experience after the fact (for example, see Campbell & Black, 2013; Stevens, 2006; Haverkate et al., 2001).
- If legalised, the eligibility criteria for who can access voluntary euthanasia and assisted suicide is open to contest and risks being expanded to include vulnerable people: This is referred to as 'bracket creep' and is the subject of discussion in the 'International Evidence and History Re-Visited' section.
- Many disability advocates and organisations around the world oppose euthanasia and assisted suicide: They argue against it on a number of grounds, but first and foremost because it has adverse implications for people with disabilities whether or not they are eligible for voluntary euthanasia and assisted suicide. The implication that some people are 'better off dead' and that 'some lives are not worth living, phrases which have been used internationally in euthanasia debates, are potentially offensive and stigmatising to those who live with the same or similar symptoms and conditions. This is discussed on pages 17-18 of our paper.

## INTRODUCTION

This paper considers Giddings and McKim's (2013) paper and proposed model by focusing on a series of specific but inter-related contexts:

- Academic issues and critiques
- Medical and bioethical issues and critiques
- Legal and criminological issues and critiques
- · Social and political issues and critiques

By their very nature, these contexts and categories are not mutually exclusive but instead inform each other. It is important to note, however, that the scope of this response is bounded and prioritised, limiting discussions and critique to the key issues. We make no claims of having universally and comprehensively surveyed all of the literature, nor is it reasonable or commonplace to expect that in the format of a response.

#### **Defining Meaning and Key Terms**

Multiple terms are used in this field, such as 'voluntary assisted dying', 'dying with dignity', 'therapeutic homicide', 'therapeutic killing' (Flegel and Fletcher, 2012; George, Finlay & Jeffrey, 2005), 'physician assisted suicide', and 'mercy killing'. Key terms used in this paper are defined in Table 1.

**Table 1:** Terms and definitions

| Term                                       | Meaning   |
|--|---|
| Voluntary<br>euthanasia<br>(VE)            | Actions taken by medical professionals with the primary intention of causing a patient's death with the patient's request and informed consent.           |
| Physician-<br>assisted<br>suicide<br>(PAS) | A suicide which is aided by a medical professional who intends to aid or knows they are aiding the suicide.   |
| Non-<br>voluntary<br>euthanasia<br>(NVE)   | Actions taken by medical professionals with the primary intention of causing a patient's death without the patient's request or without informed consent. |

## A RESPONSE TO GIDDINGS & MCKIM

Throughout this response, we will refer to Lara Giddings (MP) and Nick McKim (MP) as 'Giddings and McKim', as is tradition in academic responses to papers by other authors.

In their paper, Giddings and McKim (2013) accurately outline certain key findings and recommendations from recent commissions and reviews from Quebec, Canada and the UK regarding voluntary euthanasia and assisted suicide. They quote large portions of individual submissions and viewpoints from those commissions and reviews throughout their paper. In addition to this, they provide appendices of numerical data and operational statistics from Oregon and the Netherlands.

Giddings and McKim also extensively draw upon two Australian pieces – an academic journal article by Bartels and Otlowski (2010) and the background paper by White and Willmott (2012) published by *Australia21*.

However, to conclude on the basis of these five sources that the euthanasia debate is settled is expeditious. Among other things, this paper seeks to demonstrate that: the euthanasia debate has many complex and unresolved dimensions; data do indeed exist that do not support the legalisation of euthanasia; and recent judicial consideration of central issues in the debate have not supported the case for legalisation.

#### **Academic Issues and Critiques**

It is reasonable to expect proponents of law reform to present thorough investigation of the issues and empirical evidence. While Giddings and McKim (2013) strongly assert that this is what they have done, closer analysis unearths some limitations in their paper that can be outlined here.

The Giddings and McKim (2013) paper is not as well researched as the authors intimate. It is not clear why readily available and recent sources have been omitted from their paper. Examples include Jackson and Keown (2012), Downie, Chambaere, and Bernheim (2012), Quill (2012), Werren, Yuksel, and Smith (2012) and Gill (2010), among many others.

In addition, the standard that Giddings and McKim (2013) set for acceptable research are applied inconsistently. For example, Giddings and McKim rejecting as unreliable or invalid 'unsubstantiated anecdotes' from those who argue against law reform (2013: 20). Surely then, this applies to the 'heart wrenching stories of people suffering at the end-oflife because of their symptoms' (2013: 16) that they and others use to support their rationale? It seems inconsistent that the favourable anecdotes and stories of doctors, carers, patients and their families testifying to the international committees and reviews are quoted extensively in the Giddings and McKim (2013) paper, and yet the opinions, anecdotes and stories of others with alternative or opposing views somehow do not count. The voluntary euthanasia and assisted suicide debate is full of stories and subjectivities (for more, see Kamisar's (1998) reflections on 'the problems presented by the compelling heart-wrenching case'). In an academic context, qualitative data and peoples' experiences are treated with caution but are not rejected as 'unsubstantiated anecdotes'. Rather they can be viewed as a valuable form of information, alongside statistics and other forms of evidence and knowledge. Furthermore, in the political context of Tasmania as a democracy, it is unclear why the stories and subjectivities of some should be rejected as unsubstantiated anecdotes, while those of others are accepted as valid reasons why the law and social norms need to change.

Another example is their rejection of claims that are dependent on 'poor quality information, particularly information from the 1990s but also pre-2009, that is now well out of date and does not reflect any of the changes that have occurred following legislative reform and recent reviews' (2013: 19). It is unclear, outside of political reasons, how and why the world and the issues have changed considerably since 2009. This particular year is not a standard cut-off or threshold in academia, nor is it necessarily reflected as a meaningful date in the deliberations of the various relevant committees and panels elsewhere.

The authors (2013: 19) refer to 'many years' of experience and evidence from jurisdictions that have legalised voluntary euthanasia and physician assisted suicide (e.g. in Oregon since 1997 and in Belgium since 2002) and yet claims made by opponents and others that use evidence and experience pre-dating 2009 is 'now well out of date.' In the Giddings and McKim (2013) paper, 84 of their endnotes and just under half (24/54) of the references in their bibliography refer to literature and legislation that pre-date 2009. Furthermore, in the Bartels and Otlowski (2010) article that Giddings and McKim (2013) cite frequently, no books or journal articles from 2009 or more recently are referenced; instead, the Bartels and Otlowski article largely cites sources from the 1970s – 1990s. This issue is not of particular concern to us here, as we recognise the Bartels and Otlowski (2010) article as a useful academic contribution irrespective of what year its references date from. These are, however, examples of rules and standards being applied to opponents of voluntary euthanasia and assisted suicide as grounds to reject their views which are not consistently applied to supporters and proponents.

Considering what else is missing raises the question of why the Australian example of the Northern Territory is largely omitted, yet overseas examples are featured throughout? On this, we concur with their statement about the absence of critically relevant information and that 'what is missing is just as important as what is included' (2013: 19). The authors of the Australia21 papers discuss the Northern Territory laws and data alongside those from overseas jurisdictions (see White & Willmott, 2012; Douglas, Willmott & White, 2013), so it remains unclear why Giddings and McKim have not done so? One possible reason is that the Rights of the *Terminally Ill Act* in the Northern Territory (NT) was repealed in 1997 – less than a year after coming into effect - through the actions of the Australian federal parliament (Plattner, 1997). Another possible reason is the problematic implications of the research finding that 'symptoms of depression were common' among NT patients seeking help to end their lives (Kissane, Street & Nitschke, 1998: 1097).

Their paper does not define some important terms (mentioned throughout this paper), while others are defined loosely. It is to issues of contested definitions to which we now turn.

## MEDICAL & BIOETHICAL ISSUES AND CRITIQUES

#### Define 'terminal'

One of the issues in Giddings and McKim's (2013) paper is the notion of terminal illness and whether or not it should take into account life expectancy, actual and anticipated suffering, and quality of life. The international literature suggests diversity and ambiguity in the definition of 'terminal' and 'terminally ill', a point which is well illustrated in the examples given below and in a more detailed analysis by Hui and colleagues (2012: 588), where 'terminally ill' is defined as:

- 'a life expectancy of six months or less' (Meghani, 2004)
- 'less than six months to live' (Babgi, 2009; Schroepfer & Noh, 2010)
- 'life expectancy less than three months' (Proot *et al.*, 2004)
- 'patients with an anticipated prognosis of three months or less' (Napolskikh *et al.*, 2009)
- 'the term 'terminal' should be used to describe a dying patient, with a short life expectancy of a few days to a week' (Rogg *et al.*, 2006: 277).

To add to the confusion, 'end of life care' can be understood to be anywhere from one to two years of life expectancy through to 'the last few hours or days of life' (The European Association for Palliative Care 2009 cited in Izumi *et al.*, 2012: 609).

Rogg, Graugaard and Loge (2006) conducted a survey of 968 Norwegian physicians, where respondents were asked to define 'terminal' in expected number of weeks left to live. The results showed that, on average, Norwegian physicians expect a 'terminal' patient to have 3.6 weeks to live, with the majority (83.5%) restricting the definition of 'terminal' to the last 2-4 weeks of a patient's life (Rogg *et al.*, 2004: 273).

In Oregon and in Washington under their respective laws, a patient must be living with a terminal illness that will lead to death or be reasonably expected to lead to death within six months (Oregon Health Authority, n.d.; Washington State Department of Health, n.d.). Whereas, the Australian Medical Association (AMA) (2007) defines 'terminal illness'

within the timeframe of 'within a few months at most':

'An illness which is inevitably progressive, the effects of which cannot be reversed by treatment (although treatment may be successful in relieving symptoms temporarily) and which will inevitably result in death within a few months at most. Terminal phase of a terminal illness is defined as the phase of the illness reached when there is no real prospect of recovery, or remission of symptoms (on either a temporary or permanent basis).'

Others have systematically analysed the varying definitions and lack of consensus in the international literature surrounding the terms 'terminally ill', 'palliative care' and the implications and challenges that arise in the midst of ambiguity about who might be defined as a palliative care patient (see Mitchell *et al.*, 2013; Hui *et al.*, 2012; Izumi *et al.*, 2012; Van Mechelen *et al.*, 2012).

In mid-2103, this exact issue arose in the UK in new critique of Lord Falconer's assisted dying bill (currently under consideration by Parliament there) by academics from the University of Oxford. Sheehan, Dunn and Horn (2013) state that the bill 'smacks of compromise' because of 'poorly defined and articulated' concepts, arguing that 'it is neither adequate nor coherent in its current form.' They consider the issues and limitations of the bill centre on the lack of clarity in what counts as a terminal illness, saying that 'there looks to be no good reason for the "six months to live" limit'. They instead call it 'arbitrary' and in conflict with the recommended 12 months to live in the final report of the Commission on Assisted Dying.

Sheehan, Dunn and Horn (2013) highlight the inconsistencies and ethical problems that arise when laws use vague language and broad categories to define key issues (e.g. terminal illness) while, at the same time, strictly limit eligibility and availability through short arbitrary timelines and other strict criteria. In arguing that Lord Falconer's bill needs to be clearer, they conclude that 'concepts are defined in ways that don't stand up to scrutiny, and moral judgments are imposed in ways that diverge from the main reasons given to support changes in the law.' This conclusion must apply largely to the terms put forward by Giddings and McKim (2013) because of their similarity to the terms used by Lord Falconer.

## Healer, Helper, Killer? The Role of the Doctor and Potential Risks for Doctor-Patient Relationships

In considering the role of the doctor, Giddings and McKim (2013: 22-23) take a selective view of the perspectives and practices involved. They 'believe that those arguing against voluntary assisted dying law reform have failed to substantiate perceived threats... to the role of the doctor or to the doctorpatient relationship' (2013: 9). They go on to state that:

A further fear expressed about the role of the doctor in a legislated system of voluntary assisted dying is the damage that could be caused to the relationship of trust between a doctor and his or her patient, should a doctor actively participate by providing assistance. We are not aware of any evidence that this damage has occurred as a result of voluntary assisted dying legislation that has now been in place for many years. In fact, there are indications that it has not occurred (Giddings & McKim, 2013: 22).

Yet they do not address the local and international literature on the diversity of professional opinions amongst clinicians (see Somerville, 2003; Dobscha et al., 2004; George et al., 2005; Girbes, 2005; Saunders, 2008; Gamester & Van den Eynden, 2009; Nitschke & Stewart, 2011; Pereira, 2011; McLeod, 2012; Scher, 2012; ABC News 2013a, 2013b) as well as the concerns that have been raised by clinicians and scholars about the negative impact of legalising voluntary euthanasia and assisted suicide on the role of the doctor and on patient care (see Foley, 1997; Hendin & Foley, 2008; Varghese & Kelly, 2001; Stephenson, 2006; Cooling, 2009; Dunne, 2009; Lowenthal, 2009; Saunders, 2010; Randall & Downie, 2010). Some of the findings of these studies certainly sit in tension with Giddings and McKim's (2013) claims because they demonstrate that large numbers of professionals may oppose voluntary euthanasia and assisted suicide.

Indications of mixed feelings and mixed results can be seen the work of Dobscha and colleagues (2004). They studied physicians in Oregon who had received requests for assisted suicide in the years after the Death with Dignity laws were enacted. In investigating doctors' perspectives on the opportunities and benefits as well as the costs,

challenges and negative impact on them, the study found that:

Requests for assisted suicide had a powerful impact on physicians and their practices. Physicians often felt unprepared, and experienced apprehension and discomfort before and after receiving requests. Prominent sources of discomfort included concerns about adequately managing symptoms and suffering, not wanting to abandon patients, and incomplete understanding of patients' preferences, especially when physicians did not know patients well. Participation in assisted suicide required a large investment of time and was emotionally intense. (Dobscha *et al.*, 2004: 451).

The opposition of significant proportions of the medical fraternity has been an influential factor in jurisdictions that are considering or have rejected proposed law reforms. In the UK, national survey research shows that most doctors *do not* support voluntary euthanasia or physician-assisted suicide (Seale, 2006, 2009). In addition, Seale (2006, 2009) discounts the argument that so many doctors hold such views out of fear of legal liability. The finding that doctors are largely opposed to voluntary euthanasia is again upheld in a systematic literature review by McCormack and colleagues (2011), who used meta-analytic methodology to analyse empirical research of doctor's views of these issues over a period of 20 years. They found that across the research studies reviewed, the majority of UK doctors oppose active voluntary euthanasia and physician-assisted suicide.

More recently, the Canadian Medical Association (2013: 357) conducted a survey completed by 2,125 of its members, finding that 'only 20% would be willing to participate if euthanasia is legalised in Canada, while twice as many (42%) would refuse to do so. Almost a quarter of respondents (23%) are not sure how they would respond, while 15% did not answer.' The statistics were similar for physician assisted suicide, with 16% of respondents reported that they would be willing to participate, while 44% indicated that they would refuse to do so.

In summary, the professional and personal perspectives of doctors are mixed and varied, with fairly consistent majorities opposing voluntary euthanasia and assisted suicide.

Paradoxically, Giddings and McKim (2013) willingly refer to the Australian Medical Association's (AMA)

Code of Ethics (2006) as being more relevant and replacing the Hippocratic Oath, and yet they ignore or omit the policy positions and the current publicly expressed views of representatives of the AMA. The perspectives of the professionals tasked with the practice of voluntary euthanasia and assisted suicide are considered highly relevant, and worth exploring in detail here. In response to a question about the views of the AMA and doctors in Australia, Dr. Andrew Pesce (2010), president of the Australian Medical Association in 2010, in an interview with the ABC offered a considered response, summing up a policy position and set of beliefs that does not supporting voluntary euthanasia or physician assisted suicide:

Our response is rooted, I suppose, in our very strongly held values that our duty is to preserve and promote life, not walking away from our obligations to provide care for patients, even those that are dying. Even though there are always examples at the margins, I think our current system allows doctors to do that reasonably well (Pesce, 2010).

Dr. Christopher Middleton (2012), then chairman and now ex-officio chair of the council of the Tasmanian branch of the AMA, in an interview with the ABC in 2012 also opposed voluntary euthanasia, saying that legalising euthanasia would compromise the doctor's role as healer. Opposition to voluntary euthanasia and assisted suicide has consistently been the position of the AMA Tasmania (2009; 2013), whose most recent response to Giddings and McKim (2013) employs strongly worded censure to convey the gravity of concern:

We are extremely disappointed in the arguments set forth in the Consultation Paper in relation to the role of the doctor (pages 22-23)... You fail to inform the Tasmanian public, and others, that the majority of national medical associations and medical organisations around the world continue to oppose doctors' involvement in assisted dying. Further, you claim that trust in the doctor-patient relationship will not be undermined should doctors participate in assisted dying but you only provide one citation to support this claim (page 22). We believe that to fundamentally change the role of the doctor as one who supports life to one who takes life will have profound, unpredictable effects on the perception and practice of medicine. Whilst we acknowledge the efforts put in to developing your Consultation Paper, we find it does not openly and objectively invite opposing views and opinions, which is contrary to the democratic process by which we

live, nor does it sufficiently support its own arguments in relation to the role of the doctor. (Australian Medical Association (TAS), 2013: 2-3)

The AMA Tasmania (2013: 1) is categorical in its position: 'medical practitioners should not be involved in interventions that have as their primary intention the ending of a person's life (this does not include the discontinuation of futile treatment).' In keeping with this, other state and territory branches of the Australian Medical Association have also been active in opposing the legalisation of voluntary euthanasia and assisted suicide, for example South Australia (AMA SA, 2011) and Western Australia (Barich, 2010). The Australian Medical Association's position is backed up with reference to the position statements, codes of practice and codes of ethics of medical associations around the world (see, for example, World Medical Association, 2005; British Medical Association, 2013; Canadian Medical Association, 2007; New Zealand Medical Association, 2013; American Medical Association, 1996a, 1996b).

In summary, these positions and statements not only warrant further consideration and consultation, they directly contradict Giddings and McKim's (2013) portrayal of opponents of voluntary euthanasia and assisted suicide as a relatively ill informed group of lay citizens.

#### **Supposed Benefits for Tasmania**

Giddings and McKim (2013: 28-29) make some strong claims about the benefits and outcomes of their proposed model, stating that 'the model we have developed is designed to achieve a number of other positive outcomes, including:

- Encouraging frank and open conversations that improve the provision of information and communication between the doctor and the patient around end-of-life expectations. This is likely to improve doctor-patient relationships.
- Helping patients gain a better understanding of the different care and treatment options they have available to them. This will assist the patient to have their fears allayed and help address any misunderstandings.
- Providing a greater understanding and awareness of the role and scope of palliative care and how it can help the patient.
- Increasing awareness and reinforcing of the legal rights of Tasmanians to make important choices about their health and personal care. These choices include the right

- to refuse medical treatment or to withdraw from medical treatment, to make wills, appoint an Enduring Guardian, give someone they trust Power of Attorney, and make an Advance Care directive.
- Providing legal and professional guidance and support doctors who receive requests from their patients for assistance to die and who want to respond legally and responsibly to provide such assistance in line with their ethical and professional judgment.
- Providing legal and medical professional oversight of end-of-life decision-making with careful monitoring and ongoing review.
- Improving respect and acceptance of the law by aligning it more closely with community opinion and expectations.'

In relation to the first four claims, it is expeditious to say that the proposed model will improve these things, especially without substantiating what is meant in terms of the implied significant issues in current medical practice. There is nothing to stop Tasmanian doctors communicating clearly and providing clear and accurate information to their patients about available treatment options (including 'frank and open conversations') under Tasmanian law as it currently stands. In fact, it is part of a doctor's professional duty of care to do these things, irrespective of whether voluntary euthanasia and assisted suicide is legalised.

In making these claims, Giddings and McKim have not sufficiently demonstrated (a) that there are identifiable and substantiated issues in Tasmanian patients not being informed or being misinformed of their legal rights, or (b) how their proposed model will increase the awareness and autonomy of Tasmanian patients to exercise these rights, as they are already available and therefore do not necessitate or provide any additional rationale for law reform.

Similarly, awareness and understanding of the role and scope of palliative care in Tasmania already exists, and can, if needed, be strengthened in ways that are independent and irrespective of any proposed model or legislation. Therefore, if Giddings and McKim are aware of systemic issues of professional malpractice amongst doctors or failures in duty of care to provide accurate and clear information or to support patient rights, they need to substantiate these concerns and to work with the relevant authorities and the Tasmanian medical fraternity to remedy the issues they imply exist. The probable result is that such issues, if proven, will

likely be addressed through professional and workforce development mechanisms that do not require the legalisation of voluntary euthanasia or assisted suicide.

Regarding the latter three claims in Giddings and McKim's list, Tasmanian doctors should already have access to legal and professional guidance regarding any matter of practice, and should comply with routine professional protocols, clinical guidelines and systems of monitoring and review in providing any form of healthcare to patients, end-of-life or otherwise. There are a number of organisations that offer information and advice to stakeholders, as well as careful monitoring and oversight, to ensure high standards of professional practice and regulated professional accreditation. These organisations include the Australian Health Practitioner Regulation Agency (AHPRA), the Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care, the Australian Medical Association (AMA), Tasmania Medicare Local and the GP Tasmania network, the Tasmanian Department of Health and Human Services, Advocacy Tasmania, the Health Complaints Commissioner and Ombudsman Tasmania.

The only aspect of this list that does not currently exist is the legal option for doctors to provide assistance to patients who seek voluntary euthanasia or physician assisted suicide. The final claim about 'improving respect for and acceptance of the law' is vague and seems to suggest moderate prevalence of disrespect for the law as it currently stands and homogenous 'community opinion'. This statement does not adequately recognise and appreciate the plurality, diversity and complexity of social attitudes that exist in the Tasmanian population in this area.

The paper and the authors' respective contributions to the public record continually assert that the weight of public opinion is behind them in legalising voluntary euthanasia and assisted suicide. They cite opinion polls to support that their proposal has the backing of the Tasmanian public and argue that 'the case for legalising reform has continued to strengthen' (Giddings & McKim, 2013: 1) since 2009. Two overarching points need to be made in response to their claims. Firstly, their claims of the weight of public opinion need to be better substantiated, not only through opinion polls but through more thorough research. Their claims are contested. There

was doubt cast over the opinion polls conducted in Tasmania during the last attempt at law reform, and this doubt has not been suitably averted. McGee (2011a), a legal scholar from the Queensland University of Technology, criticised Giddings and McKim's claims at the time of public support for the Dying with Dignity Bill because those claims were based on a survey with methodological problems, confusing terminology and oblique conceptualisation. He suggests that the poll figure of 80% of Tasmanians saying they do support euthanasia could be misleading because of unclear specification of what is involved in this umbrella term (McGee, 2011b). Based on these criticisms, the counter-claim could be made that, if the Tasmanian public is actually well informed on the issues, and the details of the practices (and in what circumstances) that they are being asked to support, the research statistics and qualitative feedback from the local public may become richer.

Secondly, opinion poll results bear limited relevance to the quality of the specific model (and accompanying Bill) being proposed by Giddings and McKim. A "yes" in principle does not equate with informed consent and unmitigated support for the details and practices they are putting forward. It is anticipated there are people who may support the case for law reform, but concede the issues with or oppose the model that Giddings and McKim have put forward.

But perhaps the most important point to make about opinion poll results is that consensus views can be wrong. For example, it is probable that a majority of Tasmanians support paying less tax or significant reductions to politicians' wages. Of themselves, such majority opinions would be unlikely to affect policy because they would not be treated as a sole justification. Pro-euthanasia advocates might distinguish our examples. They might argue that popular opinion on euthanasia is different because it is about individuals' rights over their own bodies in other words individuals' right to autonomy and their right to die. However, where rights are concerned the euthanasia debate is not just about individuals' 'right to die'; axiomatically it includes generating an obligation or burden to cause or assist death (Putnam, 2009). This paper questions the value of opinion polls on this latter issue – given the complexity of such an enduring and extraordinary obligation on the state.

## CRIMINOLOGICAL, LEGAL & SOCIOLOGICAL ISSUES

## Understanding 'The Case Against' – The Diversity of Opponents

Giddings and McKim (2013: 2) use strong language to describe those with differing perspectives to theirs, describing opponents as 'fearful', 'inaccurate', illogical and 'unscholarly'. The discussion of the 'case against' legalising voluntary euthanasia and assisted suicide in Giddings and McKim's paper is very short. In order to remedy this, and complement and add to what White and Willmott (2012) have already said in outlining 'the case against', it is worth briefly noting the highly cited conclusions of Professor Yale Kamisar (1958, 1995, 1996a, 1996b, 1998, 2008, 2012).

- Associating voluntary euthanasia and assisted suicide with 'dignity', compassion and human rights wrongly implies that critics and opponents are somehow against these things, which is an inaccurate and misleading construction of 'the case against.' Critics and opponents are diverse, and often hold firm beliefs around promoting 'a good death';
- Many who support 'the case against' voluntary euthanasia and assisted suicide defend the important distinction between killing versus letting die (refusing or stopping treatment);
- Calls for legalisation are often founded on the unsubstantiated claim that 'physicians are doing it anyway' and that this is secretly common.
   Counterarguments point out the illogical nature of introducing new laws with 'safeguards' to a field of practitioners who are by the same argument breaking current criminal laws, the extent of which is under-researched.
   Additionally, criminal convictions (as a final result of monitoring and sanctioning) of doctors who break the law are rare. So how and why

would this dramatically change with legalisation of euthanasia and assisted suicide?

- Voluntary euthanasia and assisted suicide, in practice, tends to extend beyond people who are 'terminal' to encompass other forms of suffering. Kamisar (1997: 128) argues that others can and will gain access to assisted suicide, 'To argue that suicide is plausible or understandable in order to escape intense physical pain or to end a physically debilitated life but for no other reason is to show oneself out of touch with the depth and complexity of human motives.'
- Media reporting and public debate about voluntary euthanasia can become too focused around actual and hypothetical individualised cases, usually sad and tragic stories, to the detriment of properly understanding the societal consequences of legalising the practice. The 'heart wrenching compelling case' affects how people respond to opinion polls, but is in danger of ignoring the wider social context and costs. Public policy cannot be made for one – it is made for all, even in the presence of eligibility criteria.

More of the issues encompassed within 'the case against' are covered in the 'International Evidence and History Re-Visited' section of this paper.

'Legalising 'assisted dying' places a huge burden on the vulnerable... We should not worsen the situation for the vulnerable by making it easy to point them to the door. Laws are written for all of us in all situations – not just for the unusually independent. Legalising 'assisted dying' amounts to adopting a principle of indifference towards a special and acute form of vulnerability: in order to allow a few independent folk to get others to kill them on demand, we are to be indifferent to the fact that many less independent people would come under pressure to request the same.'

Onora O'Neill (in Jackson & Keown, 2012: 93)

#### The Potential for Elder Abuse

Giddings and McKim (2013: 2) assert that they 'have not been able to find any sound evidence that there is a heightened risk for people who may be vulnerable due to their age, disability, mental illness or isolation as a result of assisted dying legislation.' Others have been more cautious. For instance, in relation to the Swiss context, the European Court of Human Rights stated that "the risk of abuse inherent in a system which facilitated assisted suicide" should not be "underestimated" (Registrar of the European Court of Human Rights, 2011: 3). Similarly, White and Willmott (2012), prominent academics and activists for the introduction of voluntary euthanasia and assisted suicide laws in Australia, acknowledge the limitations of safeguards and the potential risks for vulnerable people:

It would be difficult, if not impossible, to ensure all of the legislative requirements relating to eligibility are satisfied in all cases. Of particular concern may be the ability to ensure that the request to die was given voluntarily. A person approaching the end of his or her life who relies heavily on others for all aspects of living may be pressured to end his or her life. Such pressure may not necessarily be overt, and may be exerted in subtle ways. Nevertheless, this may result in the fact that the request to die cannot be regarded as having been made voluntarily. This inability to ensure that safeguards are observed means there is potential for abuse in that a person who does not fall within the ambit of the legislation may be killed. Vulnerable individuals in our society. such as the sick, the elderly and those living with disabilities, will be at risk. (White & Willmott, 2012: 18)

Prichard (2012) came to the same conclusion but after reviewing the growing body of literature on the dynamics of elder abuse. Among other sources, Prichard (2012: 617) pointed to qualitative case studies of elder abuse to highlight the strength and subtlety of psychological control that elderly people may experience:

He knows he can do with me what he likes, because there is no one here to help me, and I can't cope with it very well. We sit in the dining room chair to chair, and he never spoke to me for 7 weeks. He said I hadn't been a mother, I'd been an enemy. I don't know how he got like this.

Now I am like this, I am nothing, worth nothing anymore. I can't do much, my house looks terrible ... it's very, very difficult. He makes me responsible for

everything that is happening to him now, that it's all my fault, but I can't, I can't cope with it, but I haven't done anything to him. I just helped and helped and helped, and paid and paid and paid.

Using the elder abuse literature, Prichard also argued that psychological pressure – unintended or intended – in the euthanasia context would be very difficult to measure with purely quantitative studies. Citing Materstvedt (2009), Prichard described the need for carefully designed qualitative studies of pressure in systems of legalised euthanasia. As Prichard noted, only one such qualitative study has been published. Interestingly, that study did record one case where apparently a patient had been pressured into requesting access to euthanasia (Norwood, Kimsma, & Battin, 2009).

Prichard (2012: 620) concluded that the study of pressure in the context of euthanasia is "in its infancy". In this context it seems much more likely that the absence of what Giddings and McKim call 'sound evidence' on vulnerability reflects the paucity of research on the topic, rather than an indication that legalised euthanasia systems are risk-free for marginalised groups.

The issue of pressure is complex. It is feasible that pressure could be experienced in a variety of ways, including a patient's sense that applying for access to an euthanasia system is the 'right thing to do'. On this note it is important to consider data from the physician-assisted system in Oregon. Oregon Public Health's annual reports contain statistics on numbers of patients who noted that part of their motivation to request euthanasia was because they felt 'a burden on family and friends'. These statistics are illustrated in Table 2. It should be highlighted that these only represent occasions where patients expressed their concern to physicians without prompting; the physicians then recorded and reported this.

**Table 2:** 'Burden to Family and Friends' as an End of Life Concern Reported by Death with Dignity Act Patients to Oregon Physicians – Trends Over Time

| Year | Percentage (%) citing this concern |
|------|------------------------------------|
| 1998 | 12%                                |
| 1999 | 26%                                |
| 2000 | 63%                                |
| 2001 | 24%                                |
| 2002 | 37%                                |
| 2003 | 38%                                |
| 2004 | 38%                                |
| 2005 | 42%                                |
| 2006 | 43%                                |
| 2007 | 44%                                |
| 2008 | 33%                                |
| 2009 | 25%                                |
| 2010 | 26%                                |
| 2011 | 42%                                |
| 2012 | 57%                                |

Sources: Oregon Public Health (2001; 2002; 2003; 2004; 2005; 2006; 2007; 2008; 2009; 2010; 2011; 2012; 2013).

Importantly, in most years between 1998 to 2012 more than one in three patients in the euthanasia system apparently perceived themselves as a 'burden' to family and friends. It may be that only a fraction of these patients requested euthanasia *primarily* because they perceived themselves as a burden to others. But even if that is the case, what do these data suggest about the social support and care afforded the elderly in the Oregon system? Issues such as these were not touched upon by Giddings and McKim (2013).

One of the recurrent issues in this area is the poor conceptualisation and lack of definition and consensus of 'vulnerability' and, also, 'unbearable suffering.' The Giddings and McKim (2013) paper does not define 'vulnerability', in fact, that exact word does not appear in their paper at all. People are described as 'vulnerable' here and there, without due conceptualisation and theorising of what is meant by that. Yet bioethicists, social scientists and criminologists alike underscore the importance of defining vulnerability and supporting it in all its forms (Dodds, 2007; Rogers *et al.*, 2012; Bartkowiak-

'The opposition being mounted by disability advocates is rooted in the realities of the disability experience. Advocates who have worked with newly disabled individuals, or who may remember their own experiences are deeply concerned about the impact legalisation would have on people who may be struggling with difficult personal adjustments and, not infrequently, with rejection and loss of hope. The annals of the disability rights movement are punctuated with stories of individuals who "just wanted to die" before coming to realise they could still lead good, contributing lives. Advocates worry that some people would never get to that realisation if assisted suicide becomes legal. People who have personal histories of trauma... would be particularly vulnerable.'

James McGaughey (2013), Executive Director, Office of Protection and Advocacy for Persons with Disabilities, Connecticut Government

Théron & Asquith, 2012; Graham, 2011, 2012). It is going to be extremely hard to safeguard what is not properly understood, especially in terms of recognising and supporting marginalised, 'hidden populations' and at-risk individuals.

## Many Disability Advocates Oppose Euthanasia and Assisted Suicide

The Giddings and McKim (2013) paper and model draws clear links between a person's quality of life and notions of dignity and autonomy. In essence, the argument goes that, in the event of 'poor quality of life' and unbearable or intolerable suffering, people who are eligible should be able to choose voluntary euthanasia and assisted suicide. This argument is not unique to the Tasmanian paper and model, and has been debated and critiqued more widely in the international literature, briefly summarised here. Associating worth with dignity and autonomy can have dangerous ethical ramifications.

The most powerful criticisms of this argument are raised by disability rights advocates and people with

disabilities (Newell, 1996; Haller & Ralph, 2001; Davis, 2004). In the United States, numerous disability organisations have opposed state attempts to legalise euthanasia and assisted suicide. These organisations include the National Council on Disability, the American Association of People with Disabilities, the National Spinal Cord Injury Association, the Disability Rights Education and Defense Fund, the World Institute on Disability, and Not Dead Yet (McGaughey, 2013).

Golden and Zoanni (2010) strongly argue against it on a number of grounds, but first and foremost because it has adverse implications for people with disabilities, whether or not they are eligible for or considering voluntary euthanasia or assisted suicide. The implication that some people are 'better off dead' and that 'some lives are not worth living', phrases which have been used in discussions in places such as the Netherlands and jurisdictions around the world debating euthanasia, are potentially offensive and stigmatising to those who live with the same or similar symptoms and conditions. British paralympian and Baroness Tanni Grey-Thompson (MBE) explains some of the issues that concern her and other people with disabilities:

'Legalising assisted dying for terminally ill people reinforces prejudices for people with disabilities. Terminal illness and physical disability aren't, of course, the same thing – many people with disabilities aren't terminally ill. But terminal illness can often bring with it disability of one kind or another and it's not a big step in popular perceptions to see the two in some way linked. That's why the majority of people with disabilities, including me, are afraid of a law that would offer a lesser standard of protection to seriously ill people than to others' (Grey-Thompson, 2013)

In addition to this, Coleman (2000, 2010) and the Not Dead Yet national disability rights organisation in the United States argue that assisted suicide laws create a discriminatory double standard for who is the focus of suicide *prevention* and who has access to suicide assistance.

## Feminist Perspectives: The Gendered Risks of Voluntary Euthanasia and Assisted Suicide

The focus of concern in this section particularly relates to the experiences of women, while also recognising at the same time the importance of understanding the experiences and perspectives of men. There is an emerging literature that raises concerns about the wellbeing and rights of women and the need to consider the impact of sex and gender on decisions regarding and circumstances surrounding the end of life and hastening death (see Osgood & Eisenhandler, 1994; Callahan, 1996; Wolf, 1996; Raymond, 1999; Canetto & Hollenshead, 2000, 2001, 2002; Parks, 2000; Platt, 2000; Allen, 2002; George, 2007), as well as broader coverage of issues of ageing, autonomy, gender oppression and injustice in healthcare provision at the end of life (Dodds, 2005).

The prevalence of gendered violence (especially intimate partner violence) and, in this the disproportionate victimisation of women, in Australia is concerning – one in three Australian women have experienced physical violence since the age of 15 (COAG, 2012: 2). It is vitally necessary to carefully consider the potential for gendered violence and familial control to be directly or subtly influential, if not implicated, in matters of the 'voluntary' assisted death of women. Where there has been coercion, control and gendered violence in a woman's life, the nature of which may often be kept hidden and secret from others (including in professional and personal relationships) in her life, it is important to ask whether this might be a factor in a woman's death.

George (2007) uses a feminist lens to critically analyse a 1996 national survey of euthanasia and physician-assisted suicide on the United States by Meier *et al.* (1998). Her observations on the gendered risks to women are relevant:

The results of this 1996 US study are a challenge to the autonomy of decisions for assisted death and decisions for euthanasia in particular.... For the women in this US study, the rhetoric of choice rings a little hollow. Compared to men, women died in circumstances where their requests are less likely to be explicit, less likely to be at their personal request and more likely to be initiated by family

members or partners. The euthanasia cases were also characterised by weaker doctor-patient relationships: in 12% of cases, the physician had known the patient for less than four weeks (Meier *et al.*, 1998). Thus, the women considering whether to end their lives were also less likely to have the benefit of an established relationship with their physician (George, 2007: 6).

On a separate but related note (making the important distinction between 'mercy killing' as different from voluntary euthanasia), she identifies what she calls 'striking correlations between patterns of male violence against women and the mercy killing of women' (George, 2007: 11-14). In her overall analysis of the realities of women's autonomy and opportunities for meaningful choice in matters of voluntary euthanasia, physician assisted or otherwise, George (2007: 8-9) concludes that 'for some women, the decision for death may be a 'non-choice', induced by controlling influences that subvert women's autonomy at the end of life.' She calls for closer scrutiny of the gendered risks to women of physician assisted suicide and euthanasia, saying that when women do decide to carry through with these things 'we need to ask why they make that decision' (pg 18, emphasis in the original), warning that some women will encounter unique risks, control, domination and pressures that are not currently well researched or understood in these specific matters of life and death.

The words 'gender' and 'women' are not mentioned at all in Giddings and McKim's (2013) 108 page paper. In light of the feminist scholarly literature briefly raised here, these are important issues that warrant more sophisticated consideration in the Tasmanian context than has occurred to date. Feminists are likely to take diverse standpoints on the issue, some in support and some against, yet feminist scholarship may be helpful in at least considering the experiences and perspectives of women at the end of life. Gender responsive healthcare and service provision matters. If there is the potential for gendered risks in legalising voluntary euthanasia and assisted suicide, then this necessitates public acknowledgment and further empirical research.

# INTERNATIONAL EVIDENCE & HISTORY RE-VISITED

#### 'Slippery Slope' Arguments and Risks of 'Bracket Creep': Evidence from Other Countries

There are cogent arguments for the existence of the so-called 'slippery slope', including the potential to shift from voluntary euthanasia and assisted suicide to the normalisation and routine practice of nonvoluntary euthanasia. There are also risks of 'net widening', 'bracket creep' and shifts from strict eligibility criteria to broad eligibility criteria, resulting in mixed messages and potentially serious risks for vulnerable people (Foley, 1997; Amarasekara & Bagaric, 2004; Golden & Zoanni, 2010; Jones, 2011; Jackson & Keown, 2012; Finlay & George, 2011; Pereira, 2011; Prichard, 2012; Schadenberg, 2012; Titterington et al., 2013; cf Kerridge & Mitchell, 1996; Shariff, 2012; Lewis, 2007a, 2007b). Similar philosophical, social and medical perspectives and concerns have been expressed in the Tasmanian context in public opinion and submissions to the recent and current bids for euthanasia law reform (see, for example, Giselsson, 2009, 2013; Malpas & Lickess, 2009; Smith, 2013).

The debate about 'safeguards', slippery slopes and evidence of impact on vulnerability has been played out in public debate and academic analysis in North America and Europe (see Avila, 2000; Battin *et al.*, 2007; cf Finlay & George 2011).

Concerns and questions have also been raised closer to home. In their consideration of Australian and Italian end of life law, Australian academics Faunce and Townsend (2012: 173) speak of the risks of changes in policy and practice arising because of political and economic pressures on the state: 'regardless of the ... importance of respecting individual patient rights in end-of-life decision-

making, the financial constraints upon governments to care for an ageing population will increasingly provide consequentialist interest... in permitting physician assisted suicide when requested by competent, non-depressed patients with a terminal illness who have already received reasonable palliative care.' This contextualises discussions of individual patient rights against the backdrop of broader economic and political imperatives.

At the other end of the spectrum, Dr Philip Nitschke, the leading proponent of euthanasia and one of the few doctors to have been involved in its stateendorsed practice in Australia, openly states that the campaign to extend the remit of voluntary euthanasia and assisted suicide is already well underway. He says 'in the intervening 16 years since the Northern Territory Rights of the Terminally Ill Act came and went, the debate on voluntary euthanasia has been extended beyond those who are terminally ill, to include the well elderly for whom rational suicide is one of the many end of life options' (Nitschke cited in Douglas, Willmott & White, 2013: 25). This type of public lobbying is an example of what may occur to an even greater extent if voluntary euthanasia and assisted suicide are legalised. What Philip Nitschke proposes is an example of the risks of 'bracket creep.'

## Belgium: Evidence that 'Safeguards' are Fallible and May Be Ignored

In Belgium, euthanasia was legalised in 2002. Closer examination of both official statistics (i.e. reported cases and documented practices) and research into unreported cases and actual practices in Belgium highlight that concerns about unprofessional practice at an individual level and 'bracket creep' at a societal level are well founded. Research and analysis by Bilsen and colleagues (2009), Chambaere and colleagues (2010), Inghelbrecht and colleagues (2009, 2010) and Smets and colleagues (2010) show that:

 Non-voluntary euthanasia can and does happen: There is consistent evidence from Belgium showing that a significant number of patients were euthanased without their explicit request or competent, informed consent. The study by Chambaere and colleagues (2010) shows that, in the Flanders region of Belgium, 32% (n = 66) of assisted deaths were done without the explicit request or consent of the patient. Of the 66 deceased non-voluntary euthanasia patients, approximately 46 of these were comatose at the time of assisted death, and 14 had dementia. An earlier article by Bilsen and colleagues (2009: 1120) identified the characteristics of deceased non-voluntary euthanasia patients in the Flanders region of Belgium as 'mostly older, incompetent patients; patients with cardiovascular diseases or cancer; or patients dying in hospitals.'

- without their explicit request: Following on from the first point, 'most of the euthanasia deaths without explicit request were done to people who did not and could not request euthanasia at the time of death... The demographic group of patients euthanized without explicit request "fits the description of "vulnerable" patient groups at risk of life-ending without request" (Schadenberg, 2012: 14). This is especially concerning given that Belgian people who died by euthanasia without explicit request were more likely to have had a cure as their goal of treatment in the last week prior to their death.
- Nurses have illegally administered euthanasia drugs to patients without their explicit request, mostly without a doctor present: (Chambaere et al., 2010: 897; Inghelbrecht et al., 2010; Smets et al., 2010). In Belgium, the euthanasia law only allows physicians to perform the act (Inghelbrecht et al., 2010). However, worryingly, the Inghelbrecht (2010: 905) study of the role of nurses showed that 'The life-ending drugs were administered by the nurse in 12% of the cases of euthanasia, as compared with 45% of the cases of assisted death without an explicit request. In both types of assisted death, the nurses acted on the physician's orders but mostly in the physician's absence.' Inghelbrecht and colleagues (2010: 909) concluded that 'the current law (which does not allow nurses to administer life-ending drugs) and a control system do not prevent nurses from administering life-ending drugs.' In another study, Inghelbrecht and colleagues (2009) found that Belgian paediatric intensive care nurses

- administered life-ending drugs to children to hasten death, with or without a doctor present. This is illegal but Belgian law reform to allow child euthanasia is currently being discussed.
- Family members' wishes may influence the practice of euthanasia without explicit request: Euthanasia 'without explicit request was most often to reduce the burden on the family or because they did not want to needlessly prolong the life of the patient' (Schadenberg, 2012: 14). Chambaere and colleagues (2010: 900) raise this as a concern due to the potential for 'conflict of interest' and the violation of patients' rights.
- Under-reporting appears widespread:
  Research by Smets and colleagues (2010: 5174)
  in the Flanders region of Belgium shows that
  'only one out of two euthanasia cases is reported
  to the Federal Control and Evaluation
  Committee. Most non-reporting physicians do
  not perceive their act as euthanasia. Countries
  debating legalisation of euthanasia should
  simultaneously consider developing a policy
  facilitating the due care and reporting
  obligations of physicians.'
- More generally, significant increases in use of deep continuous sedation in treatment of dying patients have been observed: In the Flanders region of Belgium between 2001 and 2007, the practice of deep continuous sedation (sometimes called 'terminal sedation') increased from estimates of 8.2% of all deaths to 14.5% of all deaths (Bilsen et al., 2009). On a related note, this trend was also observed in the Netherlands, where rates went from an estimated 5.6% of all deaths in 2001 (prior to euthanasia being legalised in 2002), to 12.3% of all deaths in 2010 (Onwuteaka-Philipsen et al., 2012).

In late July 2013, Belgian oncologist Dr Benoit Beuselinck publicly voiced his professional and personal concerns in the Australian media, saying 'For me and several of my colleagues, the euthanasia law has been bad for Belgium: the patients are finding less humanity, the doctors have more difficulties in their daily work and finally, I think the image of our country is suffering... In my practice it occurred that some family members thought we were euthanasing a patient without her demand. Another patient refused to go to a hospice, because

he thought that palliative care would automatically mean euthanasia. A colleague even received a false demand for euthanasia, written by a son on behalf of his father' (Doherty, 2013).

An emerging issue for bioethicists and practitioners in Belgium and elsewhere is that of organ donation and 'procurement' from voluntary euthanasia and assisted suicide patients. There already have been cases where the patients' euthanasia became a surgical procedure, prior to and/or shortly after, involving a wider team in procuring the organs (Ysebaert *et al.*, 2009). This is an issue we wish to flag here, however, it is too complex to analyse in any depth except to say that there are philosophical and practical boundaries that start to be blurred.

More radically, and in the international context that is beyond Belgium, bioethicists Wilkinson and Savulescu (2012: 41) have already hypothesised that 'organ donation euthanasia' - that is, removal of organs, such as the heart, which causes death would be a 'rational improvement' and way of increasing transplant supply. They pose the question: 'why should surgeons have to wait until the patient has died as a result of withdrawal of life support or even simple life prolonging medical treatment?' They suggest a 'viable' alternative would be to anaesthetise patients and hasten death by the process of removing organs from their body (Wilkinson & Suvalescu, 2012: 41). Of course, they suggest some safeguards around this proposal, however, the suggestion of seeing euthanasia as a vehicle and opportunity for organ donation raises complex ethical and practical questions.

Collectively these sources paint a more troubled account of the Belgian experience than intimated by Giddings and McKim (2013). The same appears to be true with respect to the Netherlands.

#### The Netherlands: Evidence of Nonvoluntary Euthanasia for Vulnerable Patients and the 'Dark Figure' of Euthanasia

Interestingly, and much like the example of Belgium, the paragraphs that follow are a good illustration of the differences between euthanasia as policy and euthanasia in practice. As Giddings and McKim

(2013) continually refer to the Netherlands throughout their paper and base substantial portions of their proposed model on that of the Netherlands, the Dutch experience warrants close scrutiny here. It seems that some important issues are missing from Giddings and McKim's (2013) analysis that relate to the Netherlands. These relate to concrete examples of 'bracket creep'.

The 'dark figure' of crime is a well-known metaphor in criminology to describe the real extent of crime (outside of or beyond official statistics) that remains undetected and/or unreported or underreported (see White & Perrone, 2010: 27). In this, the role of criminological and sociological research is to supplement official statistics, which are limited, through a range of other measures to gather a real picture of the issues and to counteract the problem of omission and underreporting. Although in a different context, this 'dark figure' metaphor can also be used to describe the phenomenon of hidden euthanasia in the Netherlands. This issue has been raised since the legalisation of euthanasia there, with Sheldon (2003: 1164) alerting readers of the *British* Medical Journal to a Dutch Government study which found that 'only half of Dutch doctors report euthanasia.' Lower figures have since been put forward. In 2010, it is estimated that 23% of euthanasia cases were not reported to euthanasia review committees in the Netherlands (Onwuteaka-Philipsen et al., 2012: 6). Underreporting rates in Flanders, Belgium, appear to be higher; available evidence suggests that only one out of two euthanasia cases is reported (Smets et al., 2010).

Giddings and McKim (2013: 44) suggest that there are numerous cases in the Netherlands where the first attempt at assisted suicide may have failed, and required doctors' intervention to hasten death. Citing a 2010 annual report from the Dutch Regional Euthanasia Review Committee, there appear to be 44 cases involving a combination of both assisted suicide and euthanasia, but very little is known about how and why this occurred. They conclude that 'it is reasonable to assume that in some cases the doctor was required to intervene and perform euthanasia if the patient's attempt at assisted suicide was not successful' (Giddings & McKim, 2013: 44). In light of the under-reporting mentioned earlier, this is concerning. A lot more needs to be known about 'assisted suicide fail rates' in other jurisdictions and how these are recognised and

responded to, both immediately with individual patients and structurally in terms of law and healthcare. For example, Oregon annual reports provide statistics of cases of patients regaining consciousness after an 'assisted suicide' attempt, with some living for days and even months after and being listed as dying of other causes (Oregon Public Health Division, 2011, 2012, 2013).

#### **Dutch Neonatal Euthanasia**

In his analysis and rebuttal of arguments for the decriminalisation of euthanasia and assisted suicide, John Keown (Jackson & Keown, 2012: 100-101) uses the example of the Netherlands to argue how legalising such practices no longer becomes a private matter concerning only a few highly autonomous patients, but instead 'it clearly has profound ramifications for the wellbeing of *all* patients who might be judged 'better off dead', not least those who are unable to refuse it.' In this vein, Pitcher (2010) raises the pertinent question of 'how do around 1,000 people come to be put to death in Holland per year without having made a request to die?' The answer from a representative of the Dutch Ministry of Health is troubling:

There are some cases in which it is not careful euthanasia, but in most cases are people who are not able to make a request because they are not seen as able to make a request – for instance, people who are suffering from a psychiatric disease or people who are in a coma. Also, newborn babies are not capable of making a request (Keizer, 2005 cited in Pitcher, 2010: 66)

The Netherlands has attracted criticism for its approach to euthanasia of people with a mental illness (Kissane & Kelly, 2000). Giddings and McKim (2013: 33) concede that there are reported cases of patients with a mental illness or disorder accessing voluntary euthanasia or assisted suicide under the Dutch model; however, in their paper they arguably understate the extent to which this occurs.

The 'slippery slope' argument from voluntary to non-voluntary euthanasia and from competent to vulnerable and incompetent patients has received some credence from other quarters. Ardent defender of euthanasia in the Netherlands, Professor John Griffiths, himself concedes the link between the legalisation of voluntary euthanasia and the process of legalising non-voluntary euthanasia of vulnerable

people, in this case infanticide or what the Dutch call 'neonatal euthanasia' for infants:

The applicable norms in the Netherlands have assuredly changed in the direction of open acceptance of the legitimacy of termination of life of severely defective newborn babies... [T]he influence on these changes of the way euthanasia had earlier been legalised and regulated is obvious. In this sense, one might speak of a normative slippery slope. (Griffiths *et al.*, 2008: 252 cited in Jackson & Keown, 2012: 100).

Laing (2013: 339) also reaches this conclusion of the existence of a clear 'slippery slope' in her critique of infanticide and the approach of 'eliminating suffering by eliminating the sufferers' in the Netherlands.

Still greater concerns arise when it is understood what is now acceptable ethical practice in the Netherlands after the introduction of the 'The Groningen Protocol' (Verhagen & Sauer, 2005). The grounds for euthanasing an infant through 'postbirth abortion' or 'neonatal euthanasia' have now been documented to extend to doctors hastening death because of severe disability and suffering, as well as the capacity to 'deliberately end the life of physiologically stable newborns with lethal drugs that would not otherwise have died' (Verhagen, 2013: 293). The extent of actual practice is unknown as there are significant issues with underreporting; even an advocate of this practice and architect of the protocol, Verhagen (2013) estimated that only 15-20% of neonatal euthanasia cases are reported. The Royal Dutch Medical Association (the 'KNMG') (2013) have recently estimated that palliative care and infant euthanasia could be relevant to the end of life care and deaths of approximately 650 Dutch infants a year, issuing medical guidelines relating to these practices.

The killing of terminally ill or disabled infants, or just those with a prognosis that is 'very grim' (Verhagen, 2013: 293) has attracted strong criticism (see Kon, 2007, 2008; Kodish, 2008; Jotkowitz *et al.*, 2008; Chervenak *et al.*, 2009; Laing, 2013).

#### Child Euthanasia in the Netherlands

Euthanasia is also relevant at the other end of childhood. In the Netherlands, the age of consent regarding voluntary participation in euthanasia has been lowered to allow children aged 12 years or older to consent to being euthanased, providing their parents also consent. Documented cases of physician-assisted dying for children in the Netherlands include: a 16 year old with an autoimmune disease, an 18 month old child with epilepsy and a progressive neurodegenerative disease, and a 13 year old with leukaemia (Vrakking et al., 2005). The extension of euthanasia to children and infants may not be isolated to the Netherlands for much longer since the legalisation of similar practices are being considered in Belgium (Pousset et al., 2011; De Morgen, 2013). There are, however, research findings that indicate that neonatal euthanasia is already occurring in the Flanders region of Belgium at rates similar to the Netherlands, (Vrakking et al., 2007).

It is important to emphasise that (a) Giddings and McKim (2013) acknowledge the developments described above concerning children and (b) their proposed model does not include minors. The point we want to underscore is that over time significant 'bracket creep' has indeed occurred in the Netherlands, as it has in Belgium. There can be no assurances that, if legalised, euthanasia systems in Tasmania or Australia would not also extend their scope over time.

#### Oregon: Insufficient Protection for Protect People with a Mental Illness and Financially Disadvantaged People

Physician assisted suicide (PAS) has been legally available in Oregon since 1997. According to the Oregon Public Health Division (2012), since 1997 when the law was passed, a total of 1,050 people have received prescriptions for lethal drugs and 673 patients have died from ingesting medications prescribed under Oregon's *Death With Dignity Act.* 

Giddings and McKim (2013) and others (White & Willmott, 2012) have provided their own detailed analysis of past and present laws and practices in Oregon, upholding it as a positive example of how assisted suicide laws can be safely and successfully

implemented. However, they have not sufficiently recognised two important issues in protecting or failing to protect vulnerable people. The first issue relates to how legalising voluntary euthanasia and assisted suicide affects people with a mental illness and those experiencing psychological distress. The second issue arises from examples of what some might consider unethical decision-making and a failure of duty of care on the part of Oregonian health authorities in the cases of vulnerable patients.

Levene and Parker (2011: 205) explain why mental illness in general, and depression and anxiety in particular, are of particular interest and concern. They highlight the fact that depression is 'potentially reversible' and 'may affect the patients' competency' as well as their own assessments of the quality of their life and their desire to live. They recommend that, because depressed patients and other patients with a mental illness are considered a vulnerable population, 'their request for death may be part of their illness, with the correct response being treatment rather than assistance in dying' (Levene & Parker, 2011: 205).

Giddings and McKim's (2013: 32) proposed model suggests that people with depression or other psychiatric or psychological disorders would be ineligible for voluntary euthanasia and assisted suicide. Yet, evidence from Oregon suggests that such safeguards will not stop patients with depression successfully accessing assisted suicide (Schwartz, 2004; Hamilton & Hamilton, 2005). These issues warrant further consideration in the paragraphs that follow.

Tolle and colleagues (2004) conducted extensive research on the characteristics and demographics of dying Oregonians considering physician assisted suicide. Within this, they found that mental illness and psychological symptoms were implicated as factors in thinking about and wanting assisted suicide:

The role of pain and psychological symptoms on PAS consideration is controversial. Pain has been associated with a desire for hastened death (Chochinov *et al.*, 1994), but most researchers emphasize the greater contribution of depression and/or hopelessness (Ganzini *et al.*, 2002). We found that greater overall symptom distress independently predicted personal consideration of PAS. Those who considered PAS also were reported

to experience a higher number of symptoms, with pain and sadness most strongly associated with PAS consideration (Tolle *et* al., 2004: 116).

In the years after this research was published, other researchers began conducting studies about the role of mental illness and its links with people seeking voluntary euthanasia and assisted suicide.

In 2008, a much cited article in the prestigious *British Medical Journal* brought this issue to the fore. Ganzini, Goy and Dobscha (2008) conducted a cross-sectional survey in Oregon to determine the prevalence of depression and anxiety in terminally ill patients pursuing assisted suicide.

Importantly, Ganzini and colleagues (2008) found that, among terminally ill Oregonian patients who participated in their study:

- 1. Of those who requested physician assisted suicide, one in four had clinical depression;
- 2. Of those who *received* a prescription for a lethal drug, one in six had clinical depression.

While acknowledging that the majority of patients in their study did not have depression, they (2008: 1) concluded that 'the current practice of the Death with Dignity Act may fail to protect some patients whose choices are influenced by depression from receiving a prescription for a lethal drug.'

In the same year, Hendin and Foley (2008) published details of six cases of vulnerable patients who were euthanased. Their analysis suggested that safeguards were being ignored by doctors, especially in cases where the patient had a mental illness, and that the Oregonian Death with Dignity Law does not protect vulnerable patients.

In light of this and other research studies, Levene and Parker (2011) conducted a systematic review of the prevalence of depression in granted and refused requests for euthanasia and assisted suicide in Oregon and the Netherlands. They expressed concern about the capacity of psychiatrists to confidently assess the existence and role of mental illness in the case of patients requesting physician assisted suicide (PAS), citing research that 'only 6% of Oregonian psychiatrists felt they could assess whether psychiatric factors were affecting a patients' judgment in a PAS request during a single consultation' (Levene & Parker, 2011: 210). They

(2011: 210) concluded that 'up to half of all patients requesting euthanasia/ physician assisted suicide may show symptoms of depression.'

The authors of this paper examined the official statistics in the annual reports from Oregon Public Health – see Table 3 – to assess referrals for psychiatric evaluation. It would be reasonable to suggest that in recent years, when less than 4% of Death with Dignity Act patients were referred to a psychiatrist, that the prevalence of mental illness and psychiatric symptoms remain largely unknown and unmonitored. Martyn and Bourguignon (2000) have criticised Oregon's data collection and regulation in this area in detail.

**Table 3:** Percentage (%) of Oregonian Death with Dignity Act (DWDA) Patients Referred for Psychiatric Evaluation – Trends Over Time

| Year | Percentage (%) DWDA patients referred for psychiatric evaluation |
|------|--|
| 1998 | 31%  |
| 1999 | 37%  |
| 2000 | 19%  |
| 2001 | 14%  |
| 2002 | 13%  |
| 2003 | 5%   |
| 2004 | 5%   |
| 2005 | 5%   |
| 2006 | 4%   |
| 2007 | 0%   |
| 2008 | 3%   |
| 2009 | 0%   |
| 2010 | 1%   |
| 2011 | 1%   |
| 2012 | 2%   |

Sources: Oregon Public Health (2001; 2002; 2003; 2004; 2005; 2006; 2007; 2008; 2009; 2010; 2011; 2012; 2013).

This data and the other empirical studies from the literature discussed here provide evidence that the legal safeguards in Oregonian law may not protect vulnerable people with a mental illness and, in some cases, may have been deliberately breached. There are also concerns that 'bracket creep' may occur by officially expanding the eligibility criteria and laws to allow people with a mental illness to access assisted suicide. Both Giddings and McKim (2013:

35) and Lewis and Black (2012) acknowledge that there have been lobbying attempts and campaigns, as well as proposed legislation, seeking to expand the Oregon Act to allow for patients with a mental illness to access physician assisted suicide. This attempt to expand the scope was recently voted down by the Oregon legislature. (Attempts have also been made to expand the Swiss system to incorporate suffering based on mental illness (Prichard, 2012).)

However, it should be noted that the system in the Netherlands was expanded in 2002 to permit access to euthanasia on the basis of psychiatric illness, providing the patient is suffering hopelessly and unbearably (Pereira, 2011). A similar situation exists in Belgium.

The second issue warranting brief mention here is the risks of legalising voluntary euthanasia and assisted suicide to people living with socio-economic disadvantage and poverty, who are typically considered a vulnerable group in society. Research on Oregon and the Netherlands by Battin and colleagues (2007) (whom Giddings and McKim (2013) cite extensively) concluded that people on low incomes and from socio-economically disadvantaged backgrounds were not at heightened risk in terms of voluntary euthanasia and assisted suicide. This has since been challenged by Page (2009) and Finlay and George (2010).

In an article titled 'What's the Cost of Living in Oregon These Days? - A Fresh Look at the Need for Judicial Protections in the Death with Dignity Act', Page (2009) highlights two vignettes of vulnerable patients in Oregon. Page (2009) describes Barbara Wagner's story. She was a 64 year old, low income Oregon resident who learned that her cancer, after two years in remission, had returned. Her doctor wrote a prescription for a cancer treatment. In May 2008, Ms Wagner received a letter to inform her that the funding for her prescription had been denied. Instead, 'the Oregon Health Plan offered her funding for comfort care that included the option of lethal prescription. In response to the letter, Ms Wagner said "To say to someone, we'll pay for you to die, but not for you to live, it's cruel..." (Page, 2009: 233).

In a very similar case, Oregonian resident Randy Stroup, aged 53, was uninsured and unable to pay for expensive chemotherapy. He was informed that his treatment under the Oregon Health Plan had been denied, and 'likewise, learned that the State would offer to pay for a lethal prescription' (Page, 2009: 233). In discussing Randy Stroup's case, Dr William Toffner, professor of family at Oregon Health and Science University, said "It is chilling when you think about it. It absolutely conveys to the patient that continued living isn't worthwhile" (Springer, 2008).

After much national and international publicity, both Ms Wagner and Mr Stroup subsequently had their medication and treatment requests reconsidered and the State offered to pay for their life prolonging treatment and palliative care if desired (Page, 2009). Page, however, concludes that these two stories reveal a truth about Oregon's Death With Dignity Act – 'its safeguards are inadequate' (Page, 2009: 233).

In summary, there is evidence from Oregon that contrasts sharply with the portrayal of best practice outlined by Giddings and McKim (2013). In particular, documented cases of people with a mental illness and people living with socio-economic disadvantage highlight that the safeguards in Oregon's Death With Dignity Act do not adequately protect vulnerable people.

## Ireland: Euthanasia Law Reform is Against the Public Interest

Voluntary euthanasia and assisted suicide has recently been the subject of extensive debate in Ireland, due to a much publicised court case. The case was initiated by Marie Fleming, a 59 year old woman with multiple sclerosis who was immobile from the neck down. She wished to participate in assisted suicide and be allowed to die at home at a time of her choosing. Marie mounted a legal challenge to the constitutionality of Ireland's law that prevented her from being assisted to commit suicide. The High Court of Ireland in *Fleming v Ireland & Ors* [2013] IEHC 2 considered and rejected her claim. The court's judgment cited a number of issues and reasons which are summarised here:

- Competent adult patients already have the right to refuse medical treatment, even if this leads to death;
- Legalising or relaxing the ban on voluntary euthanasia and assisted suicide was 'inimical to the public interest';

- 'Any relaxation of the ban would be impossible to tailor to individual cases';
- 'The evidence from other countries shows that risks of abuse are all too real and cannot be dismissed as speculative or distant';
- 'One real risk attending such liberalisation is that even with the most rigorous system of legislative checks and safeguards, it would be impossible to ensure that the aged, the disabled, the poor, the unwanted, the rejected, the lonely, the impulsive, the financially compromised and emotionally vulnerable would not avail of this option in order to avoid a sense of being a burden on their family and society';
- "The safeguards built into any liberalised system would, furthermore, be vulnerable to laxity and complacency and might well prove difficult or even impossible to police adequately";
- 'The Court further notes that the validity of other similar statutory bans has been upheld by the Canadian Supreme Court, the US Supreme Court, the UK Supreme Court and the European Court of Human Rights.'

In Fleming v Ireland the High Court of Ireland referenced the high profile Canadian case Carter v. Canada (Attorney General), 2012 BCSC 886. This is directly relevant here because Giddings and McKim (2013) refer to the Canadian case several times in their paper. The High Court of Ireland stated that, in reviewing the same available international evidence, it 'has drawn exactly the opposite conclusions.' The High Court summary of the judgment directly mentions some of the evidence and issues that have been covered in this paper as the reasons for the judgment and the rejection of Fleming's constitutional claim:

The medical literature documents specific examples of abuse which, even if exceptional, are nonetheless deeply disturbing. Moreover, contrary to the views of the Canadian court, there is evidence from this literature that certain groups (such as disabled neonates and disabled or demented elderly persons) are vulnerable to abuse. Above all, the fact that the number of LAWER ("legally assisted deaths without explicit request") cases remains strikingly high in jurisdictions which have liberalised their law on assisted suicide (Switzerland, Netherlands and Belgium) - ranging from 0.4% to over 1% of all deaths in these jurisdictions according to the latest figures – without any obvious official response speaks for itself as to the risks involved. For these reasons, the Court rejects the constitutional claim.

Marie Fleming appealed this to the Supreme Court of Ireland, citing issues of discrimination relating to disability. On 29 April 2013, the Supreme Court of Ireland dismissed her appeal and upheld the judgment of the High Court (*Fleming v Ireland & Ors* [2013] IESC 19). The issues highlighted in *Fleming v Ireland* support broader international concerns regarding 'bracket creep' and a 'slippery slope' as well as underscoring the potential for undue risks for vulnerable people.

In summary, the alternative and additional international evidence and experiences presented here raise ethical questions about euthanasia law reform. They demonstrate why questions relating to 'bracket creep' remain. Such questions and the potential for serious risks and harms are not as unfounded as Giddings and McKim (2013) might suggest. If euthanasia is legalised in Tasmania it is highly likely that there will at some stage be debate about changes to and extension of eligibility criteria. 'Safeguards' do not effectively avert concerns about bracket creep, especially if social change is one of the main reasons cited as the grounds for euthanasia law reform in the first place.

## CONCLUSION

Despite Giddings and McKim's (2013) confidence about euthanasia as a policy option for Tasmania, it seems to us that the case for voluntary euthanasia and assisted suicide in Tasmania is far from being made out.

A primary concern about Giddings and McKim's (2013) paper is that it appears to assess available evidence optimistically and from the perspective of euthanasia advocates. Our paper has attempted to explain that the few jurisdictions that have legalised euthanasia have complex legacies and fallible safeguards. It is unclear why these complexities have been understated in the Giddings and McKim (2013) paper.

Like others, we hold grave concerns about the mixture of roles and social messages entailed in legalising euthanasia, including those relating to the doctor-patient relationship as well as perceptions of Tasmanians with physical disabilities. We are equally concerned about the extension of eligibility requirements (e.g bracket creep), especially through reinterpretations of terms including 'poor quality of life' and 'unbearable suffering'.

Based on the evidence and experiences presented in this paper, we conclude that there are unjustifiable risks in proceeding with the euthanasia law reform proposed by Giddings and McKim (2013). Irrespective of the success or otherwise of their bid, much more research is needed to become better informed about the issues, processes and practices discussed in this paper, and how they can be best understood in the Tasmanian and Australian context. In the interests of fostering further knowledge exchange, we hope that others take up analysis and discussion of what we have presented here. More diverse voices and a wider range of community stakeholders need to be heard on this important issue.

## REFERENCES

- Allen, F. (2002) 'Where are the Women in End-of-Life Research?' *Behavior Change* 19(1): 39-51.
- Amarasekara, K., & Bagaric, M. (2004) 'Moving from Voluntary Euthanasia to Non-Voluntary Euthanasia: Equality and Compassion' *Ratio Jurisprudence* 17(3): 398-423.
- American Medical Association (1996a) 'Euthanasia' http://www.ama-assn.org/ama/pub/physicianresources/medical-ethics/code-medicalethics/opinion221.page (Accessed 22 July 2013)
- American Medical Association (1996b) 'Physician Assisted Suicide' <a href="http://www.ama-assn.org/ama/pub/physician-resources/medical-ethics/code-medical-ethics/opinion2211.page">http://www.ama-assn.org/ama/pub/physician-resources/medical-ethics/code-medical-ethics/opinion2211.page</a> (Accessed 22 July 2013)
- Australian Broadcasting Channel [ABC] News (2013a)

  'Euthanasia Bill Divides Doctors' (18 March 2013)

  <a href="http://www.abc.net.au/news/2013-03-18/euthanasia-bill-divides-doctors/4580012">http://www.abc.net.au/news/2013-03-18/euthanasia-bill-divides-doctors/4580012</a>

  (Accessed 22 July 2013)
- Australian Broadcasting Channel [ABC] News (2013b) 'Euthanasia 'State Sanctioned Murder" (18 March 2013) <a href="http://www.abc.net.au/news/2013-03-17/ama-rejects-euthanasia-bill/4577922">http://www.abc.net.au/news/2013-03-17/ama-rejects-euthanasia-bill/4577922</a> (Accessed 22 July 2013)
- Australian Medical Association (2006) 'AMA Code of Ethics [Editorially Revised 2006]'
  <a href="https://ama.com.au/codeofethics">https://ama.com.au/codeofethics</a> (Accessed 21 July 2013).
- Australian Medical Association (2007) 'The Role of the Medical Practitioner in End of Life Care 2007'
  <a href="https://ama.com.au/position-statement/role-medical-practitioner-end-life-care-2007">https://ama.com.au/position-statement/role-medical-practitioner-end-life-care-2007</a> (Accessed 15 July 2013).
- Australian Medical Association (SA) (2011) 'Doctors and Lawyers Oppose Keys 'End of Life' Bill'

  <a href="http://www.amasa.org.au/download/Media%20releases/2011/0970%20End%20of%20Life%20Bill%2009-12%20cb.pdf">http://www.amasa.org.au/download/Media%20releases/2011/0970%20End%20of%20Life%20Bill%2009-12%20cb.pdf</a> (Accessed 14 March 2013)
- Australian Medical Association (TAS) (2009) 'AMA Tasmania Submission to the Enquiry into the Dying with Dignity Bill 2009'

- http://www.amatas.com.au/issues/ (Accessed 22 July 2013)
- Australian Medical Association (TAS) (2013) 'AMA
  Tasmania's Position on Euthanasia'
  <a href="http://www.amatas.com.au/assets/2\_-">http://www.amatas.com.au/assets/2\_-</a>
  <a href="AMA\_Tasmania\_submission\_to\_Consultation\_Paper\_on\_Voluntary\_Assisted\_Dying\_draft\_of\_1st\_March\_2">http://www.amatas.com.au/assets/2\_-</a>
  <a href="AMA\_Tasmania\_submission\_to\_Consultation\_Paper\_on\_Voluntary\_Assisted\_Dying\_draft\_of\_1st\_March\_2">http://www.amatas.com.au/assets/2\_-</a>
- Avila, D. (2000) 'Assisted Suicide and the Inalienable Right to Life' *Issues in Law & Medicine* 16(2): 111-141.
- Babgi, A. (2009) 'Legal issues in end-of-life care: perspectives from Saudi Arabia and United States' *American Journal of Hospice and Palliative Care* 26(2): 119-127.
- Barich, A. (2010) 'AMA Opposes WA Greens'
  Euthanasia Push'
  <a href="http://www.therecord.com.au/blog/ama-opposes-wa-greens-euthanasia-push/">http://www.therecord.com.au/blog/ama-opposes-wa-greens-euthanasia-push/</a> (Accessed 14 March 2013)
- Bartels, L., & Otlowski, M. (2010) 'A Right to Die? Euthanasia and the Law in Australia' *Journal of Law* and *Medicine* 17: 532-555.
- Bartkowiak-Théron, I., & Asquith, N., (eds) (2012) *Policing Vulnerability* Federation Press: Canberra.
- Battin, M., ven der Heide, A., Ganzini, I., van der Wal, G., & Onwuteaka-Philipsen, B. (2007) 'Legal Physician-Assisted Dying in Oregon and the Netherlands: Evidence Concerning the Impact on Patients in "Vulnerable" Groups' *Journal of Medical Ethics* 33: 591-597.
- Bilsen, J., Cohen, J., Chambaere, K., Pousset, G., Onwuteaka-Philipsen, B., Mortier, F., & Deliens, L. (2009) 'Medical End-of-Life Practices Under Euthanasia Law in Belgium' *New England Journal of Medicine* 361: 1119-1121.
- British Medical Association [BMA] (2013) 'What is Current BMA Policy on Assisted Dying?' http://bma.org.uk/practical-support-at-work/ethics/bma-policy-assisted-dying (Accessed 22 July 2013)
- Callahan, S. (1996) 'A Feminist Case Against Euthanasia: Women Should Be Especially Wary of Arguments for "The Freedom to Die" *Health Progress* 77(6): 21-29.
- Campbell, C., & Black, M. (2013) 'Dignity, Death and Dilemmas: A Study of Washington Hospices and

- Physician Assisted Death' *Journal of Pain and Symptom Management* (in press, accepted peer reviewed final manuscript), available online at <a href="http://ir.library.oregonstate.edu/xmlui/handle/19">http://ir.library.oregonstate.edu/xmlui/handle/19</a> 57/40840 (Accessed 28 July 2013)
- Canadian Medical Association (2007) *Euthanasia and Assisted Suicide (Update 2007)* Canadian Medical Association: Ottowa.
- Canadian Medical Association (2013) 'MD Views on Euthanasia, Assisted Suicide Vary Widely: Survey' Canadian Medical Association Journal 185(4): 357.
- Canetto, S., & Hollenshead, J. (2000) 'Gender and Physician-Assisted Suicide: An Analysis of the Kevorkian Cases, 1990-1997' *Journal of Death and Dying* 40(1): 165-208.
- Canetto, S., & Hollenshead, J. (2001) 'Older Women and Mercy Killing' *Journal of Death and Dying* 42(1): 83-99.
- Canetto, S., & Hollenshead, J. (2002) 'Men's Mercy Killing of Women: Mercy for Whom? Choice for Whom?' *Journal of Death and Dying* 45(3): 291-296.
- Cantor, N. (2004) 'On Kamisar, Killing and the Future of Physician-Assisted Death' *Michigan Law Review* 102(8): 1401-1449.
- Chambaere, K., Bilsen, J., Cohen, J., Onwuteaka-Philipsen, B., & Mortier, F. (2010) 'Physician-Assisted Deaths Under the Euthanasia Law in Belgium: A Population Based Survey' *Canadian Medical Association Journal* 182(9): 895-901.
- Chervenak, F., McCullough, L., & Arabin, B. (2009) 'The Groningen Protocol: Is It Necessary? Is It Scientific? Is It Ethical?' *Journal of Perinatal Medicine* 37(3): 199-205.
- Chochinov, H., Wilson, K., Enns, M., & Lander, S. (1994) 'Prevalence of Depression in the Terminally Ill: Effects of Diagnostic Criteria and Symptom Threshold Judgments' *American Journal of Psychiatry* 151: 537-540.
- Coleman, D. (2000) 'Assisted Suicide and Disability: Another Perspective' *Human Rights* 27(6): 6-8.
- Coleman, D. (2010) 'Assisted Suicide Laws Create a Discriminatory Double Standard for Who Gets Suicide Prevention and Who Gets Suicide Assistance: Not Dead Yet Responds to Autonomy Inc.' Disability and Health Journal 3: 39-50.
- Cooling, N. (2009) 'Undermining What It Means to Be a Doctor Submission to the Joint Standing

- Committee on Community Development on the Dying with Dignity Bill 2009'

  <a href="http://www.realdignitytas.com/Viewpoints/medical%20viewpoints%20-%20Cooling.html">http://www.realdignitytas.com/Viewpoints/medical%20viewpoints%20-%20Cooling.html</a> (Accessed 22 July 2013)
- Council of Australian Governments [COAG] (2012)

  National Plan to Reduce Violence Against Women
  and Their Children 2010-2022 Australian
  Government Department of Families, Housing,
  Community Services and Indigenous Affairs
  (FaHCSIA): Canberra.
- Davis, A. (2004) 'A Disabled Persons Perspective on Euthanasia' *Disability Studies Quarterly* 24(3).
- De Morgen (2013) 'Another Step Towards Euthanasia for Children' (10 June 2013)

  <a href="http://www.presseurop.eu/en/content/news-brief/3864411-another-step-towards-euthanasia-children">http://www.presseurop.eu/en/content/news-brief/3864411-another-step-towards-euthanasia-children</a> (Accessed 30 September 2013).
- Dobscha, S., Heintz, R., Press, N., & Ganzini, L. (2004) 'Oregon Physicians' Responses to Requests for Assisted Suicide: A Qualitative Study' *Journal of Palliative Medicine* 7(3): 451-461.
- Dodds, S. (2005) 'Gender, Ageing and Injustice: Social and Political Contexts of Bioethics' *Journal of Medical Ethics* 31: 295-298.
- Dodds, S. (2007) 'Depending on Care: Recognition of Vulnerability and the Social Contribution of Care Provision' *Bioethics* 21(9): 500-510.
- Doherty, M. (2013) 'Euthanasia: Time to Talk' *The Canberra Times* 27 July 2013.
- Douglas, B., Willmott, L., & White, B. (2013) *The Right to Choose an Assisted Death: Time for Legislation?*Australia21 Limited: Weston, ACT.
- Downie, J., Chambaere, K., & Bernheim, J. (2012) 'Pereira's Attack on Legalizing Euthanasia or Assisted Suicide: Smoke and Mirrors' *Current Oncology* 19(3): 133-138.
- Dunne, P. (2009) 'Tasmanian Association for Hospice and Palliative Care Submission to the Joint Standing Committee on Community Development on the Dying with Dignity Bill 2009' <a href="http://www.realdignitytas.com/Viewpoints/medical%20viewpoints%20-%20TAHPC.html">http://www.realdignitytas.com/Viewpoints/medical%20viewpoints%20-%20TAHPC.html</a> (Accessed 22 July 2013)
- Dying with Dignity Bill 2009 [Tas.]

  <a href="http://www.parliament.tas.gov.au/bills/Bills2009/pdf/37\_of\_2009.pdf">http://www.parliament.tas.gov.au/bills/Bills2009/pdf/37\_of\_2009.pdf</a> (Accessed 22 July 2013)

- Emanuel, E. (2001) 'Euthanasia: Where the Netherlands Leads the World Will Follow? No. Legalisation is a Diversion from Improving Care for the Dying' *British Medical Journal* 322: 1376-1377.
- Faunce, T., & Townsend, R. (2012) 'A Comparative Perspective on Australian End-of-Life Law' in Negri, S. (ed.) *Self Determination, Dignity and End of Life Care* Koninklijke Brill NV: The Netherlands.
- Finlay, I., & George, R. (2011) 'Legal Physician-Assisted Suicide in Oregon and The Netherlands: Evidence Concerning the Impact on Patients in Vulnerable Groups Another Perspective on Oregon's Data' *Journal of Medical Ethics* 37: 171-174.
- Flegel, K., & Fletcher, J. (2012) 'Choosing When and How to Die: Are We Ready to Perform Therapeutic Homicide?' *Canadian Medical Association Journal* 184(11): 1227.
- Foley, K. (1997) 'Competent Care for the Dying Instead of Physician Assisted Suicide' *The New England Journal of Medicine* 336(1): 54-64.
- Gamester, N., & Van den Eynden, B. (2009) 'The Relationship Between Palliative Care and Legalized Euthanasia in Belgium' *Journal of Palliative Medicine* 12(7): 589-591.
- Ganzini, L., Goy, E., & Doscha, S. (2008) 'Prevalence of Depression and Anxiety in Patients Requesting Physicians' Aid in Dying: Cross Sectional Survey' *British Medical Journal* 337: 1682.
- George, K. (2007) 'A Woman's Choice? The Gendered Risks of Voluntary Euthanasia and Physician-Assisted Suicide' *Medical Law Review* 15: 1-33.
- Giddings, L., & McKim, N. (2013) *Voluntary Assisted Dying A Proposal for Tasmania* Hobart.
- Gill, C. (2010) 'No, We Don't Think Our Doctors Are Out to Get Us: Responding to the Straw Man Distortions of Disability Rights Arguments Against Assisted Suicide' *Disability and Health Journal* 3: 31-38.
- Girbes, A. (2005) 'End-of-Life Decisions in The Netherlands: False Euthanasia and False Murder' Intensive Care Medicine 31(4): 588.
- Giselsson, K. (2009) 'Diminishing the Very Concept of Human Worth and Dignity Submission to the Joint Standing Committee on Community Development on the Dying with Dignity Bill 2009' <a href="http://realdignitytas.com/Viewpoints/philosophical/">http://realdignitytas.com/Viewpoints/philosophical//</a> <a href="http://realdignitytas.com/Viewpoints/philosophical/">http://realdignitytas.com/Viewpoints/philosophical/</a> <a href="http://www.com/Viewpoints/philosophical/">http://www.com/Viewpoints/philosophical/</a> <a href="https://www.com/Viewpoints/philosophical/">http://www.com/Viewpoints/philosophical/</a> <a href="https://www.com/Viewpoints/philosophical/">https://www.com/Viewpoints/philosophical/</a> <a href="https://www.com/Viewpoints/philosophical/">https://www.com/Viewpoints/philosophical/</a> <a href="https://www.com/Viewpoints/philosophical/">https://www.com/Viewpoints/philosophical/</a> <a href="https://www.com/Viewpoints/philosophical/">https://www.com/Viewpoints/philosophical/</a> <a href="https://www.com/Viewpoints/philosophical/">https://www.com/Viewpoints/philosophical/</a> <a href="https://www.com/Viewpoints/philosophical/">https://www.com/Viewpoints/philosophical/</a> <a href="https://www.com/Viewpoints/">https://www.com/Viewpoints/</a> <a href="https://wwww.com/Viewpoints/">https://www.com/Viewpoints/</a> <a

- Giselsson, K. (2013) 'Personal Submission to the Voluntary Assisted Dying Consultation, Tasmania' (15 March 2013).
- George, R., Finlay, I., & Jeffrey, D., (2005) 'Legalised Euthanasia Will Violate the Rights of Vulnerable Patients' *British Medical Journal* 331: 684-685.
- Golden, M., & Zoanni, T. (2010) 'Killing Us Softly: The Dangers of Legalising Assisted Suicide' *Disability* and *Health Journal* 3: 16-30.
- Graham, H. (2011) 'A Marriage of (In)Convenience?

  Navigating the Research Relationship between
  Ethical Regulators and Criminologists Researching
  Vulnerable Populations' in Bartels, L., & Richards, K.
  (eds) (2011) *Qualitative Criminology: Stories from*the Field Federation Press: Sydney.
- Graham, H. (2012) 'The Path Forward: Policing,
  Diversion and Desistance' in Bartkowiak-Théron, I.,
  & Asquith, N., (eds) (2012) *Policing Vulnerability*Federation Press: Canberra.
- Grey-Thompson, T. (2013) 'Assisted Suicide: A Chilling Prospect for Disabled People' *The Times,* 23 September 2013.
- Groenewoud, J., van der Heide, A., Onwuteaka-Philipsen, B., Willems, D., van der Maas, P., & van der Wal, G. (2000) 'Clinical Problems with the Performance of Euthanasia and Physician-Assisted Suicide in the Netherlands' *New England Journal of Medicine* 342(8): 551-556.
- Haller, B., & Ralph, R. (2001) 'Not Worth Keeping Alive? News Framing of Physician Assisted Suicide in the United States and Great Britain' *Journalism Studies* 2(3): 407-421.
- Hamilton, N., & Hamilton, C. (2005) 'Competing Paradigms of Response to Assisted Suicide Requests in Oregon' *American Journal of Psychiatry* 162(6): 1060-1065.
- Haverkate, I., van der Heide, A., Onwuteaka-Philipsen, B., van der Maas, P., & van der Wal, G. (2001) 'The Emotional Impact on Physicians of Hastening the Death of a Patient' *Medical Journal of Australia* 175: 519-522.
- Hendin, H., & Foley, K. (2008) 'Physician Assisted Suicide in Oregon: A Medical Perspective' *Michigan Law Review* 106(8): 1613-1640.
- Hendry, M., Pasterfield, D., Lewis, R., Carter, B., Hodgson, D., & Wilkinson, C. (2013) 'Why Do We Want the Right to Die? A Systematic Review of the

- International Literature on the Views of Patients, Carers and the Public on Assisted Dying' *Palliative Medicine* 27(1): 13-26.
- High Court of Ireland [IEHC 2] (2013) Fleming vs.

  Ireland Summary of Judgment

  <a href="http://www.bailii.org/ie/cases/IEHC/2013/H2.ht">http://www.bailii.org/ie/cases/IEHC/2013/H2.ht</a>

  ml (Accessed 11 August 2013)
- Hui, D., Mori, M., Parsons, H., Kim, S., Li, Z., Damani, S., & Bruera, E. (2012) 'The Lack of Standard Definitions in the Supportive and Palliative Oncology Literature' *Journal of Pain and Symptom Management* 43(3): 582-592.
- Inghelbrecht, E., Bilsen, J., Pereth, H., Ramet, J., & Deliens, L. (2009) 'Medical End of Life Decisions: Experiences and Attitudes of Belgian Pediatric Intensive Care Nurses' *American Journal of Critical Care* 18(2): 160-168.
- Inghelbrecht, E., Bilsen, J., Mortier, F., & Deliens, L.(2010) 'The Role of Nurses in Physician-AssistedDeaths in Belgium' *Canadian Medical Association Journal* 182(9): 905-910.
- Izumi, S., Nagae, H., Sakurai, C., & Imamura, E. (2012) 'Defining End-of-Life Care from Perspectives of Nursing Ethics' *Nursing Ethics* 19(5): 608-618.
- Jackson, E., & Keown, J. (2012) *Debating Euthanasia* Hart Publishing: Portland, Oregon.
- Jacobson, N. (2007) 'Dignity and Health: A Review' *Social Science & Medicine* 64: 292-302.
- Jones, D. (2011) 'Is There a Logical Slippery Slope from Voluntary to Non-Voluntary Euthanasia?' *Kennedy Institute of Ethics Journal* 21(4): 379-404.
- Jotkowitz, A., Glick, S., & Gesundheit, B. (2008) 'A Case Against Justified Non-Voluntary Active Euthanasia (The Groningen Protocol)' *The American Journal of Bioethics* 8(11): 23-26.
- Kamisar, Y. (1958) 'Some Non-Religious Views Against Proposed Mercy-Killing Legislation' *Minnesota Law Review* 42(6): 969-1042.
- Kamisar, Y. (1995) 'Against Assisted Suicide Even a Very Limited Form' *The University of Detroit Law Review* 72(4): 735-769.
- Kamisar, Y. (1996a) 'The Reasons So Many People Support Physician-Assisted Suicide – And Why These Reasons Are Not Convincing' *Issues in Law & Medicine* 12(2): 113-131.

- Kamisar, Y. (1996b) 'The Right to Die: On Drawing (and Erasing) Lines' *Duquesne Law Review* 35(1): 481-521.
- Kamisar, Y. (1998) 'Physician-Assisted Suicide: The Problems Presented by the Compelling, Heartwrenching Case' *Journal of Criminal Law and Criminology* 88(3): 1121-1146.
- Kamisar, Y. (2008) 'Can *Glucksberg* Survive *Lawrence*? Another Look at the End of Life and Personal Autonomy' *Michigan Law Review* 106(8): 1453-1478.
- Kamisar, Y. (2012) 'Are the Distinctions Drawn in the Debate about End-of-Life Decision Making "Principled"? If Not, How Much Does It Matter?' *Journal of Law, Medicine and Ethics* 40(1): 66-84.
- Keown, J. (1995) 'Euthanasia in the Netherlands: Sliding Down the Slippery Slope?' in Keown, J. (ed.) Euthanasia Examined: Ethical, Clinical and Legal Perspectives Cambridge University Press: Cambridge.
- Kerridge, I., & Mitchell, K. (1996) 'The Legislation of Active Voluntary Euthanasia in Australia: Will the Slippery Slope Prove Fatal?' *Journal of Medical Ethics* 22: 273-278.
- Kissane, D., & Kelly, B. (2000) 'Demoralisation, Depression and Desire for Death: Problems with the Dutch Guidelines for Euthanasia of the Mentally Ill' *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry* 24: 325-333.
- Kissane, D., Street, A., & Nitschke, P (1998) 'Seven Deaths in Darwin: Case Studies Under the Rights of the Terminally Ill Act, Northern Territory, Australia' *The Lancet* 352: 1097-1102.
- Kodish, E. (2008) 'Paediatric Ethics: A Repudiation of the Groningen Protocol' *The Lancet* 371: 892-893.
- Kon, A. (2007) 'Neonatal Euthanasia is Unsupportable: The Groningen Protocol Should be Abandoned' *Theoretical Medicine and Bioethics* 28(5): 453-463.
- Kon, A. (2008) 'We Cannot Accurately Predict the Extent of an Infant's Future Suffering: The Groningen Protocol is Too Dangerous to Support' *American Journal of Bioethics* 8(11): 27-29.
- Laing, J. (2013) 'Infanticide: A Reply to Giubilini and Minerva' *Journal of Medical Ethics* 39: 336-340.
- Levene, I., & Parker, M. (2011) 'Prevalence of depression in granted and refused requests for

- euthanasia and assisted suicide: a systematic review' *Journal of Medical Ethics* 37: 205-211.
- Lewis, P. (2007a) 'The Empirical Slippery Slope from Voluntary to Non-Voluntary Euthanasia' *Journal of Law, Medicine and Ethics* 35(1): 197-206.
- Lewis, P. (2007b) *Assisted Dying and Legal Change* Oxford University Press: Oxford.
- Lewis, P., & Black, I. (2012) The Effectiveness of Legal Safeguards in Jurisdictions that Allow Assisted Dying [The Commission on Assisted Dying Briefing Paper] Demos: London.
- Lowenthal, R. (2009) 'An Unnecessary and Dangerous
  Law Submission to the Joint Standing Committee
  on Community Development on the Dying with
  Dignity Bill 2009'
  <a href="http://www.realdignitytas.com/Viewpoints/medical%20viewpoints%20-%20Lowenthal.html">http://www.realdignitytas.com/Viewpoints/medical%20viewpoints%20-%20Lowenthal.html</a>
  (Accessed 22 July 2013)
- Malpas, J., & Lickess, N. (2009) 'Euthanasia and the Issue of Autonomy Submission to the Joint Standing Committee on Community Development on the Dying with Dignity Bill 2009' <a href="http://www.realdignitytas.com/Viewpoints/philosophical%20viewpoints%20-%20Malpas.html">http://www.realdignitytas.com/Viewpoints/philosophical%20viewpoints%20-%20Malpas.html</a> (Accessed 22 July 2013)
- Martyn, S., & Bourguignon, H. (2000) 'Now is the Moment to Reflect: Two Years of Experience With Oregon's Physician Assisted Suicide Law' *The Elder Law Journal* 8(1): 1-56.
- Materstvedt, L. (2009) 'Inappropriate Conclusions in Research on Assisted Dying' *Journal of Medical Ethics* 35: 272.
- McGee, A. (2011a) 'Unclear End-of-Life Concepts Cloud Euthanasia Debate' Media Release, 29 March 2011 <a href="http://www.news.qut.edu.au/cgi-bin/Web0bjects/News.woa/wa/goNewsPage?newsEventID=35364">http://www.news.qut.edu.au/cgi-bin/Web0bjects/News.woa/wa/goNewsPage?newsEventID=35364</a>
- McGee, A. (2011b) 'The Public Deserves a Better
  Debate on Euthanasia' *The Conversation* 29 March
  2011 <a href="http://theconversation.edu.au/the-public-deserves-a-better-debate-on-euthanasia-534">http://theconversation.edu.au/the-public-deserves-a-better-debate-on-euthanasia-534</a>
- McLeod, S. (2012) 'Assisted Dying in Liberalised Jurisdictions and the Role of Psychiatry: A Clinician's View' Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry 46(10): 936-945.
- McCormack, R., Clifford, M., & Conroy, M. (2011) 'Attitudes of UK Doctors Towards Euthanasia and

- Physician-Assisted Suicide: A Systematic Literature Review' *Palliative Medicine* 26(1): 23-33.
- McGaughey, J. (2013) 'Why Do So Many Disability Groups Oppose Physician Assisted Suicide?' Office of Protection and Advocacy for People with Disabilities
  - http://www.ct.gov/opapd/cwp/view.asp?Q=51954 6&A=3683 (Accessed 30 September 2013)
- Meghani, S. (2004) 'A Concept Analysis of Palliative Care in the United States' *Journal of Advanced Nursing* 46(2): 152-161.
- Middleton, C. (2012) 'Why is Euthanasia Illegal in Australia?' ABC The World Today interview (16/11/12)
  http://www.abc.net.au/worldtoday/content/201
  - http://www.abc.net.au/worldtoday/content/2012/s3634322.htm (Accessed 14 March 2013)
- Mitchell, H., Noble, S., Finlay, I., & Nelson, A. (2013) 'Defining the Palliative Care Patient: Its Challenges and Implications for Service Delivery' *British Medical Journal Supportive and Palliative Care* 3(1): 46-52.
- Napolskikh, J., Selby, D., Bennett, M., Chow, E., Harris, K., Sinclair, E., & Myers, J. (2009) 'Demographic Profile and Utilization Statistics of a Canadian Inpatient Palliative Care Unit Within a Tertiary Care Setting' *Current Oncology* 16(1): 49-54.
- Newell, C. (1996) 'Critical Reflections on Euthanasia and People with a Disability' *The Australian Quarterly* 68(3): 48-58.
- New England Journal of Medicine (2013) 'Physician-Assisted Suicide' Case Vignette and Poll <a href="http://www.nejm.org/doi/full/10.1056/NEJMclde1">http://www.nejm.org/doi/full/10.1056/NEJMclde1</a> 302615#t=cldeOpt1 (Accessed 22 July 2013)
- New Zealand Medical Association (2013) 'Euthanasia' NZMA Position Statement <a href="http://www.nzma.org.nz/policies/advocacy/position-statements/euthanasia">http://www.nzma.org.nz/policies/advocacy/position-statements/euthanasia</a> (Accessed 22 July 2013)
- Nitschke, P., & Stewart, F. (2011) "What's It Got to Do With You?" Challenging the Medical Profession's Future in the Assisted Suicide Debate' *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry* 45: 1017-1019.
- Norwood, F., Kimsma, G., & Battin, M. (2009)

  'Vulnerability and the 'Slippery Slope' at the End-ofLife: A Qualitative Study of Euthanasia, General

  Practice and Home Death in the Netherlands' Family

  Practice 26: 472.

- Oregon Health Authority (n.d.) 'Frequently Asked
  Questions Death with Dignity Act'
  <a href="http://public.health.oregon.gov/providerpartnerresources/evaluationresearch/deathwithdignityact/pages/faqs.aspx">http://public.health.oregon.gov/providerpartnerresources/evaluationresearch/deathwithdignityact/pages/faqs.aspx</a>
- Oregon Public Health Division (2001) *Oregon's Death*With Dignity Act 2000 [Annual Report Year 3]

  Oregon Public Health: Salem.
- Oregon Public Health Division (2002) *Oregon's Death With Dignity Act 2001 [Annual Report Year 4]*Oregon Public Health: Salem.
- Oregon Public Health Division (2003) *Oregon's Death*With Dignity Act 2002 [Annual Report Year 5]

  Oregon Public Health: Salem.
- Oregon Public Health Division (2004) Oregon's Death With Dignity Act 2003 [Annual Report Year 6] Oregon Public Health: Salem.
- Oregon Public Health Division (2005) *Oregon's Death With Dignity Act 2004 [Annual Report Year 7]*Oregon Public Health: Salem.
- Oregon Public Health Division (2006) *Oregon's Death With Dignity Act 2005 [Annual Report Year 8]*Oregon Public Health: Salem.
- Oregon Public Health Division (2007) *Oregon's Death*With Dignity Act 2006 [Annual Report Year 9]
  Oregon Public Health: Salem.
- Oregon Public Health Division (2008) *Oregon's Death*With Dignity Act 2007 [Annual Report Year 10]

  Oregon Public Health: Salem.
- Oregon Public Health Division (2009) *Oregon's Death With Dignity Act 2008 [Annual Report Year 11]*Oregon Public Health: Salem.
- Oregon Public Health Division (2010) *Oregon's Death With Dignity Act 2009 [Annual Report Year 12]*Oregon Public Health: Salem.
- Oregon Public Health Division (2011) *Oregon's Death*With Dignity Act 2010 [Annual Report Year 13]

  Oregon Public Health: Salem.
- Oregon Public Health Division (2012) *Oregon's Death*With Dignity Act 2011 [Annual Report Year 14]

  Oregon Public Health: Salem.
- Oregon Public Health Division (2013) *Oregon's Death*With Dignity Act 2012 [Annual Report Year 15]

  Oregon Public Health: Salem.

- Onwuteaka-Philipsen, B., Brinkman-Stoppelenburg, A., Penning, C., Jong-Krul, G., van Delden, J., van der Heide, A. (2012) 'Trends in End-of-Life Practices Before and After the Enactment of the Euthanasia Law in the Netherlands from 1990 to 2010: A Repeated Cross-Sectional Survey' *The Lancet* 908-915.
- Osgood, N., & Eisenhandler, S. (1994) 'Gender and Assisted and Acquiescent Suicide: A Suicidologists' Perspective' *Issues in Law and Medicine* 9(4): 361-374.
- Page, A. (2009) 'What's the Cost of Living in Oregon These Days? – A Fresh Look at the Need for Judicial Protections in the Death with Dignity Act' *Regent University Law Review* 22: 223-257.
- Parks, J. (2000) 'Why Gender Matters to the Euthanasia Debate: On Decisional Capacity and the Rejection of Women's Death Requests' *The Hastings Centre Report* 30(1): 30-36.
- Patient Rights Council (2011) 'Attempts to Legalize Euthanasia/Assisted Suicide in the United States' <a href="http://epcdocuments.files.wordpress.com/2011/10/attempts\_to\_legalize\_001.pdf">http://epcdocuments.files.wordpress.com/2011/10/attempts\_to\_legalize\_001.pdf</a> (Accessed 29 September 2013)
- Pereira, J. (2011) 'Legalizing Euthanasia or Assisted Suicide: The Illusion of Safeguards and Controls' *Current Oncology* 18(2): 38-45.
- Pesce, A. (2010) 'Euthanasia' Australian Medical Association (AMA) Media Transcript <a href="https://ama.com.au/media/transcript-dr-pesce-and-aprof-glidewell-mark-colvin-abc-radio">https://ama.com.au/media/transcript-dr-pesce-and-aprof-glidewell-mark-colvin-abc-radio</a> (Accessed 14 March 2013).
- Pitcher, G. (2010) A Time to Live: The Case Against Euthanasia and Assisted Suicide Monarch Books: Oxford.
- Platt, M. (2000) 'Assisted Suicide: Devaluing Disabled Life' *The American Feminist* 6(4): 12-13.
- Plattner, A. (1997) 'Australia's Northern Territory: The First Jurisdiction to Legislate Voluntary Euthanasia, and the First to Repeal It' *DePaul Journal of Healthcare Law* 1(1): 645-654.
- Poussett, G., Mortier, F., Bilsen, J., Cohen, J., & Deliens, L. (2011) 'Attitudes and Practices of Physicians Regarding Physician Assisted Dying in Minors' *Archives of Disease in Childhood* 96: 948-953.
- Prichard, J. (2009) 'Euthanasia and Issues of Elder Abuse – Submission to the Joint Standing

- Committee on Community Development on the Dying with Dignity Bill 2009'
  <a href="http://www.realdignitytas.com/Viewpoints/legal%20viewpoints%20-%20Prichard.html">http://www.realdignitytas.com/Viewpoints/legal%20viewpoints%20-%20Prichard.html</a> (Accessed 14
- Prichard, J. (2012) 'Euthanasia: A Reply to Bartels and Otlowski' *Journal of Law and Medicine* 19: 610-621.

March 2013)

- Proot, I., Abu-Saad, H., ter Meulen, R., Goldsteen, M., Speeuwenberg, C., & Widdershoven, G. (2004) 'The needs of terminally ill patients at home: directing one's life, health and things related to beloved others' *Palliative Medicine* 18(1): 53-61.
- Putnam C, (2009) 'What Kind of a Right is the 'Right to Die'?' (2009) 4 European Journal of Mental Health 165.
- Quill, T. (2012) 'Physicians Should "Assist in Suicide" When It is Appropriate' *Journal of Law, Medicine and Ethics* 40(1): 57-65.
- Randall, F., & Downie, R. (2010) 'Assisted Suicide and Voluntary Euthanasia: Role Contradictions for Doctors' *Clinical Medicine* 10(4): 323-325.
- Raymond, D. (1999) "Fatal Practices": A Feminist Analysis of Physician Assisted Suicide and Euthanasia' *Hypatia* 14(2): 1-25.
- Registrar of the European Court of Human Rights (2011) "Switzerland Cannot be Criticised for Not Having Assisted a Suicide", *Press Release 040* (20 January 2011),
  - http://www.cmiskp.echr.coe.int/tkp197/portal.asp ?sessionId=68513616&skin=hudoc-pren&action=request (Accessed 24 March 2011)
- Rogers, W., MacKenzie, C., & Dodds, S. (2012) 'Why Bioethics Needs a Concept of Vulnerability' International Journal of Feminist Approaches to Bioethics 5(2): 11-38.
- Rogg, L., Graugaard, P., Loge, J. (2006) 'Physician's Interpretation of the Prognostic Term "Terminal": A Survey Among Norwegian Physicians' *Palliative and Supportive Care* 4: 273-278.
- Royal Dutch Medical Association (2013) 'Standpunt Medische beslissingen rond het levenseinde bij pasgeborenen met zeer ernstige afwijkingen' ('Clear Criteria for Medical End of Life Decisions for Newborn Infants with Very Serious Birth Defects') <a href="http://knmg.artsennet.nl/Publicaties/KNMGpublicatie/Standpunt-Medische-beslissingen-rond-het-levenseinde-bij-pasgeborenen-met-zeer-ernstige-">http://knmg.artsennet.nl/Publicaties/KNMGpublicatie/Standpunt-Medische-beslissingen-rond-het-levenseinde-bij-pasgeborenen-met-zeer-ernstige-</a>

- <u>afwijkingen-2013.htm</u> (Accessed 30 September 2013)
- Saunders, J. (2008) 'What do Physicians Think about Physician Assisted Suicide and Voluntary Euthanasia?' *Clinical Medicine* 8(3): 243-245.
- Saunders, J. (2010) 'Role Contradiction in Physician-Assisted Suicide' *Clinical Medicine* 10(4): 319-320.
- Schadenberg, A. (2012) Exposing Vulnerable People to Euthanasia and Assisted Suicide Ross Lattner Educational Consultants: Ontario.
- Scher, L. (2012) 'What Should We Tell Medical Students and Residents About Euthanasia and Assisted Suicide?' *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry* 46(2): 87-91.
- Schroepfer, T., & Noh, H. (2010) 'Terminally Ill Elders' Anticipation of Support in Dying and Death' *Journal of Social Work in End-of-Life and Palliative Care* 6:73-90.
- Schwartz, J. (2004) 'Opponents of Oregon Suicide Law Say Depressed Man was Wrongly Given Drugs' *The New York Times* 7<sup>th</sup> May 2004.
- Seale, C. (2006) 'National Survey of End-of-Life Decisions Made by UK Medical Practitioners' Palliative Medicine 20: 3-10.
- Seale, C. (2009) 'Legalisation of Euthanasia or Physician-Assisted Suicide: Survey of Doctors' Attitudes' *Palliative Medicine*: 1-8.
- Shariff, M. (2012) 'Assisted Death and the Slippery Slope – Finding Clarity amid Advocacy, Convergence and Complexity' *Current Oncology* 19(3): 143-154.
- Sheehan, M., Dunn, M., & Horn, R. (2013) 'Lack of Clarity Undermines Bill that Would Help People Die' *The Conversation* 26 July 2013 <a href="http://theconversation.com/lack-of-clarity-undermines-bill-that-would-help-people-die-15360">http://theconversation.com/lack-of-clarity-undermines-bill-that-would-help-people-die-15360</a> (Accessed 28 July 2013).
- Sheldon, T. (2003) 'Only Half of Dutch Doctors Report Euthanasia' *British Medical Journal* 326: 1164.
- Singer, P., & Siegler, M. (1990) 'Euthanasia: A Critique' New England Journal of Medicine 322(26): 1831-1833.
- Smets, T., Bilsen, J., Cohen, J., Rurup, M., Mortier, F., & Deliens, L. (2010) 'Reporting of Euthanasia in Medical Practice in Flanders, Belgium: Cross Sectional Analysis of Reported and Unreported Cases' British Medical Journal 341: 5174.

- Smith, W. (2013) 'Tasmania Seeks Broad Medicalized Killing License' *National Review Online*<a href="http://www.nationalreview.com/human-exceptionalism/359740/tasmania-seeks-broad-medicalized-killing-license-wesley-j-smith">http://www.nationalreview.com/human-exceptionalism/359740/tasmania-seeks-broad-medicalized-killing-license-wesley-j-smith</a>
  (Accessed 28 September 2013)
- Somerville, M. (2003) "Death Talk": Debating Euthanasia and Physician Assisted Suicide in Australia' *Medical Journal of Australia* 178(4): 171-174.
- Springer, D. (2008) 'Oregon Offers Terminal Patients Doctor-Assisted Suicide Instead of Medical Care' Fox News
  - http://www.foxnews.com/story/0,2933,392962,00 html (Accessed 11 August 2013).
- Steinbock, B. (2005) 'The Case for Physician Assisted Suicide: Not (Yet) Proven' *Journal of Medical Ethics* 31: 235-241.
- Stephenson, J. (2006) 'Assisted Dying: A Palliative Care Physician's View' *Clinical Medicine* 6(4): 374-377.
- Stevens, K. (2006) 'Emotional and Psychological Effects of Physician Assisted Suicide and Euthanasia on Participating Physicians' *Issues in Law & Medicine* 21(3): 187-200.
- Supreme Court of Ireland [IESC 19] (2013) Fleming vs.
  Ireland Appeal No. 019/2013

  http://www.courts.ie/judgments.nsf/09859e7a3f3
  4669680256ef3004a27de/94ff4efe25ba9b428025
  7b5c003eea73?OpenDocument (Accessed 11
  August 2013)
- Titterington, V., Rivolta, P., & Schraufnagel, S. (2013) 'Right-to-Die Legislation: A Note on Factors Associated with Its Adoption' *Sociological Spectrum* 33: 358-373.
- Tolle, S., Tilden, V., Drach, L., Fromme, E., Perrin, N., & Hedberg, K. (2004) 'Characteristics and Proportion of Dying Oregonians Who Personally Consider Physician-Assisted Suicide' *The Journal of Clinical Ethics* 15(2): 111-122.
- Van Mechelen, W., Aertgeerts, B., De Ceulaer, K., Thoonsen, B., Vermandere, M., Warmenhoven, F., Van Rijswijk, E., & De Lepelaire, E. (2012) 'Defining the Palliative Care Patient: A Systematic Review' Palliative Medicine 23(7): 197-208.
- Varghese, F., & Kelly, B. (2001) 'Countertransference and Assisted Suicide' *Issues in Law and Medicine* 16(3): 235-258.

- Verhagen, A. (2013) 'The Groningen Protocol for Newborn Euthanasia; Which Way Did the Slippery Slope Tilt?' *Journal of Medical Ethics* 39: 293-295.
- Verhagen, A., & Sauer, P. (2005) 'The Groningen Protocol – Euthanasia in Severely Ill Newborns' *New England Journal of Medicine* 352(10): 959-962.
- Vrakking, A., van der Heide, A., Frans, W., Pieters, R., van der Voort, E., Rietjens, J., Onwuteaka-Philipsen, B., van der Maas, P., & van der Wal, G. (2005) 'Medical End-of-Life Decisions for Children in the Netherlands' *Archives of Paediatric & Adolescent Medicine* 159(9): 802-809.
- Vrakking, A., van der Heide, A., Provoost, V., Bilsen, J., van der Wal, G., & Deliens, L. (2007) 'End of Life Decision Making in Neonates and Infants: Comparison of the Netherlands and Belgium (Flanders)' *Acta Paediatrica* 96(6): 820-824.
- Washington State Department of Health (n.d.) 'Death with Dignity Act'
  <a href="http://www.doh.wa.gov/YouandYourFamily/IllnessandDisease/DeathwithDignityAct.aspx">http://www.doh.wa.gov/YouandYourFamily/IllnessandDisease/DeathwithDignityAct.aspx</a>
- Werren, J., Yuksel, N., & Smith, S. (2012) 'Avoiding a Fate Worse than Death: An Argument for Legalising Voluntary Physician-Based Euthanasia' *Journal of Law and Medicine* 20(1): 184-203.
- White, R., & Perrone, S. (2010) *Crime, Criminality and Criminal Justice* Oxford University Press: South Melbourne.
- White, B., & Willmott, L. (2012) *How Should Australia Regulate Voluntary Euthanasia and Assisted Suicide?* Australia21 Limited: Weston, ACT.
- White, B., Willmott, L., & Douglas, B. (2013) 'Safe
  Assisted Dying Laws are Possible, So Let's Make
  Them' *The Conversation* 7 May 2013
  <a href="http://theconversation.com/safe-assisted-dying-laws-are-possible-so-lets-make-them-13653">http://theconversation.com/safe-assisted-dying-laws-are-possible-so-lets-make-them-13653</a>
  (Accessed 28 July 2013)
- Wilkinson, D., & Suvalescu, J. (2012) 'Should We Allow Organ Donation Euthanasia? Alternatives for Maximising the Number and Quality of Organs for Transplantation' *Bioethics* 26(1): 32-48.
- Wolf, S. (1996) 'Gender, Feminism and Death:
  Physician-Assisted Suicide and Euthanasia' in Wolf,
  S. (ed.) Feminism and Bioethics: Beyond
  Reproduction Oxford University Press: New York
  (pages 282-317).

World Medical Association (2005) WMA Statement on Physician Assisted Suicide (Editorially revised in France, May 2005) World Medical Association: Ferney-Voltaire, France.

Ysebaert, D., Van Beeumen, G., De Greef, K., Squifflet, J., Detry, O., De Roover, A., Delbouille, M., Van Doninck, W., Rouyenne, G., Chapelle, T., Bosmans, J., Van Raemdonck, D., Faymonville, M., Laureys, S., Lamy, M., & Cras, P. (2009) 'Organ Procurement After Euthanasia: The Belgian Experience'

Transplantation Proceedings 41: 585-586.